
PŪRONGO-Ā-TAU 
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



OUR UCOL STUDENTS

18%
WIDER ROHE/REGION MĀORI 
POPULATION IS AROUND 

Manawatū
Whanganui

Horowhenua
Wairarapa

(2013 Census – Statistics NZ; 2018 Census data is not yet available at the 
time of this report)

This continues the high Māori student participation rate at UCOL. 

% STUDENTS WHO IDENTIFY 
AS MĀORI AND PACIFIC

Ngāti Porou (East Coast), Ngāpuhi (Northland / Auckland), 
Ngāti Kahungunu (Hawke’s Bay), followed by Tūwharetoa 
(Rotorua/Taupō) and Te Atihaunui-A-Pāpārangi 
(Whanganui/Rangītikei) 

107 IWI

2020

TOTAL
2785

TOTAL
3190

1000

2000

3000

2021

123
International Student

3068
Domestic Student

29.7%
MĀORI 
DESCENT
(interim figure)

6%
PACIFIC 
DESCENT

MĀORI GRADUATES FROM

WAIRARAPA

687
WHANGANUI

864
MANAWATŪ

3953
HOROWHENUA

77
ONLINE

577
OTHER

370

STUDENTS BY LOCATION

40.24% Male 
59.51% Female 
0.25% Gender Diverse

TTAF STUDENTS 984 (ACROSS 12 SITES)

STUDENTS ENROLLED IN:  CERTIFICATE 3083  |  DIPLOMA 2420  |  DEGREE 1204

EFTS

EFTS



CONTENTS
He Mihi 
Welcome
Chair’s Report 
Chief Executive’s Report

Tuitui Tāngata
Our People
Our Team 
Our Staff

Ngā Uara
Values in Action
Equal Education Opportunities 
Equal Employment Opportunities 
Our Commitment to Te  Tiriti o Waitangi: 

Diversity Strategies
Health and Safety at UCOL 

Te Mahi Rangahau
Research
Statement of Research
Research Statements

Ngā Huanga
Statement of Service Performance 
2021
Our Strategic Transition Plan
Tertiary Education Strategy
Te Pūkenga Educational Priorities
Our Investment Plan 2019-2021
Te Pūkenga Charter and Letter of Expectations

Te Arotahi Ngā Paearu
Areas of Focus and Measures of 
Success
Our Institutional Overarching Commitment to 

Te Mana Tiriti
Partnerships that Make a Difference
An Institution for the 21st Century
All Our People are Equipped for the New World
Global Outreach and Globalisation

He Pūrongo Tātari Kaute
Independent Auditors Report

He Kōrero Tatau
The Numbers
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and 

Expense
Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Changes in Equity
Cash Flow Statement
Notes to the Financial Statements 

He Kōrero Whākinga
Disclosures
Student Services Levy Disclosure 2020
Official Information Act Requests

1.

3.

7.

11.

15.

16.

41.

97.

37.

984
TTAF
STUDENTS

Manawatū
Campus

608

Wairarapa
Campus

81
Whanganui

Campus

52 Horowhenua
Learning
Centre

52 Tūrangi
27

Te Poho o
Tuariki

26
Taumarunui
16
Horowhenua
16

Pukaha 
Mount Bruce

10

Online
81

Taratahi
Agricultural

Training Centre

8
Manawatū

Prison

7

UNDER AGE 25

EFTS

Students

1798
HEAD
COUNT3418

DISABILITIES
Students with

1401

OUR UCOL STUDENTS

18%
WIDER ROHE/REGION MĀORI 
POPULATION IS AROUND 

Manawatū
Whanganui

Horowhenua
Wairarapa

(2013 Census – Statistics NZ; 2018 Census data is not yet available at the 
time of this report)

This continues the high Māori student participation rate at UCOL. 

% STUDENTS WHO IDENTIFY 
AS MĀORI AND PACIFIC

Ngāti Porou (East Coast), Ngāpuhi (Northland / Auckland), 
Ngāti Kahungunu (Hawke’s Bay), followed by Tūwharetoa 
(Rotorua/Taupō) and Te Atihaunui-A-Pāpārangi 
(Whanganui/Rangītikei) 

107 IWI

2020

TOTAL
2785

TOTAL
3190

1000

2000

3000

2021

123
International Student

3068
Domestic Student

29.7%
MĀORI 
DESCENT
(interim figure)

6%
PACIFIC 
DESCENT

MĀORI GRADUATES FROM

WAIRARAPA

687
WHANGANUI

864
MANAWATŪ

3953
HOROWHENUA

77
ONLINE

577
OTHER

370

STUDENTS BY LOCATION

40.24% Male 
59.51% Female 
0.25% Gender Diverse

TTAF STUDENTS 984 (ACROSS 12 SITES)

STUDENTS ENROLLED IN:  CERTIFICATE 3083  |  DIPLOMA 2420  |  DEGREE 1204

EFTS

EFTS



1  |   UCOL Annual Report 2021

Chair’s Report 
In our 2020 Annual Report, Hon Steve Maharey who was 
Board Chair then, highlighted the main points of UCOL’s 
new Strategic Transition Plan, as we, a newly minted 
Te Pūkenga subsidiary, carved out the journey towards 
bringing UCOL’s energy, initiative, and community status 
into Te Pūkenga.

One year on, UCOL has worked hard on the key goals to 
ensure we are well positioned for the new era.

Our transition strategy, to play our part in developing 
a region that is economically, spiritually and holistically 
healthy, is now developing strongly. “Partnerships that 
make a difference” is a key goal that involves respectful 
listening and agile responsiveness to mana whenua, 
businesses and communities in Manawatū, Horowhenua, 
Whanganui, Rangitikei, Wairarapa, Tararua and Ruapehu 
regions. Examples of progress in this area are to be found 
throughout this report. Three significant achievements in 
2021 include:

• The Board committed to a new Accord with Te Puna 
Mātauranga O Whanganui Incorporated, committing 
to work alongside each other to increase the education 
and skill levels of all peoples, in particular the local 
Māori population within the Whanganui region.  
Te Puna and UCOL have experience of partnering on 
educational initiatives, reflecting a shared commitment 
to improve Māori success at higher levels of retention, 
progression, and course and qualification completion.

HE MIHI WELCOME
• In late 2021, Te Pūkenga approved the sale and 

refurbishment of PSA House in Palmerston North as a 
teaching centre for Health and Wellbeing. Community 
health agencies will share what will be an open, 
modern, appropriate learning space for a faculty 
which has achieved strong results, in an ever changing 
environment that requires upgraded learning facilities.

• Working with businesses and economic development 
agency Whanganui and Partners, Whanganui UCOL 
made available the unutilised BackHouse building as 
the site for a newly created innovation hub, guided 
by a special Trust. The Trust supports innovative 
businesses, located in The BackHouse, to thrive 
and offer internship opportunities to our students. 
The governance of the Trust will embody the Tiriti 
Partnership. This initiative has the active support of  
Te Pūkenga.

For the second year in a row, UCOL staff and students 
responded admirably to a challenging academic 
environment disrupted by lockdowns and alert levels. After 
three years of declining student numbers, we saw a lift of 
10%, a welcome achievement in this COVID-affected age.

UCOL managed to exceed its revenue target for 2021, 
however this was offset by increased employment 
(building capacity) and property costs (increased power, 
insurance). These additional costs resulted in a higher than 
anticipated deficit for 2021. UCOL will continue to review 
its financial performance throughout 2022 and adjust to 
changing business conditions as they emerge.

I wish to acknowledge Chief Executive, Dr Linda 
Sissons, who has led a strong Executive Leadership 
Team throughout this part of the journey towards Te 
Pūkenga. The highlights in this year’s report attest to their 
commitment to UCOL and its vision. Preparing UCOL for its 
part in the vocational education reforms is central to the 
government’s focus on creating a high wage, high skills, 
high productivity future that all New Zealanders can share 
in. UCOL is an important part of the future – in 2022 as a 
subsidiary of Te Pūkenga – the New Zealand Institute of 
Skills and Technology.

I would also like to thank my Deputy Chair, Mark Cleaver, 
and Barry Jordan, Chair of Audit & Risk Committee, along 
with all members of our Board. They have guided and 
supported UCOL with wisdom, energy, experience and 
imagination through a fast-moving year.

Kia kaha te haere

Verne Atmore 
Board Chair
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Chief Executive’s Report
As in 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic and its associated 
challenges continued to test our students, staff 
and communities throughout the year. I would like 
to acknowledge our people for their diligence and 
resilience in an ever changing COVID-19 environment. 
Our Health and Safety, Corporate Assurance and Risk, 
Information Systems and Technology, People and 
Capability, Communications and Facilities Management 
staff alongside our teaching teams and student support 
Te Mana Tauira were simply superb. Our students were 
supported with a range of services and pastoral care to 
help them continue their studies.

Our investment in key projects represents potential future 
value for Te Pūkenga. For example, our focus on increasing 
flexible study options for learners so they can work and 
study at the same time. To achieve this we are committed 
to our blended delivery project to steadily increase the 
range of programmes that can be studied from on-the 
job, on-campus and at home. We also introduced an in-
work delivery model for cookery students, working with 
employers to fit around their requirements.

An enhanced focus on relationships with local business 
partners was seen with the establishment of a new 
Business and Industry Partnerships portfolio, which builds 
on collaboration between UCOL and business/industry 
partners. Our vision is to bring business into the heart of 
UCOL and provide opportunities not only for students and 
graduates to be in the workplace, but also for workers to 
be learners.

It was pleasing to see our regional campus structure, 
created from strong and distinctive origins, flourish in 
ways specific to their communities. New and positive 
relationships were forged with the Taumarunui and 
Tūrangi communities, in both cases led by mana whenua.

The seismic vulnerability of our campus footprint in both 
Manawatū and Whanganui resulted in the development 
of multi-year plans to address what is a widespread issue 
for several subsidiaries. Work is well underway on the 
Manawatū campus with the completion of a new lift for 
Blocks 4 and 8, and increased strengthening in Block 4 and 
associated walkways.

UCOL conducted its first staff engagement survey since 
2017; the results were enlightening and, not surprisingly, 
very informative. We have valuable insights into what 
is needed to improve and what we do well as an 
organisation. We increased our investment in the future 
of our people, providing all staff the opportunity to further 
their own professional development. We also launched 
a Leadership Development Programme to build-on and 
enhance the capability of our current and future leaders.

UCOL designed a 10-Year Financial Strategy, one of very 
few in the sector, which will help keep us on track well 
into the future. This is a deliberate look at what lies ahead 
and what it will entail to retain our position as a high 
performing subsidiary.

I wish to extend my thanks to the Executive Leadership 
Team, the Board and all colleagues across UCOL.

As we transition into the era of Te Pūkenga, UCOL has 
proved it is ready for the challenge and I am confident in 
our future as a leading tertiary educator within the new 
national organisation.

Dr Linda Sissons 
Chief Executive
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Our Team 2021
TUITUI TĀNGATA OUR PEOPLE

Appointed by Te Pūkenga

Chief Executive  
Dr Linda Sissons, CNZM, MA, Dip 
Adult Ed, PhD 
 

Executive Director Business and 
Industry Partnership (from 19 
April 2021)
Jasmine Groves, Dip Commercial 
Photography 
 

Pouārahi Executive Director  
Te Mana Tauira
Teina Mataira, BA 
PostGradDipTchg

Executive Director People and 
Capability (from 8 March 2021) 
Dan Lester, BBS 
 
 

Executive Director Community 
Engagement
Christine Beech, BApplMgmt 
MPRINZ  
 
 

Chief Financial Officer
Brian Trott, BBS CA

Executive Director Quality and 
Academic Assurance
Gianetta Lapsley, BHortSci 
MEdAdminLead 
 

Executive Director Business 
Development (until 22 January 
2021)
Dr Arthur Chin JP, DBA, MA, FFin, 
BCA (Hons) PhD  
 

Executive Director Education 
and Applied Research
Dr Jerry Shearman, BPhED MSc 
PhD QTS

Verne Atmore 
B AgCom (Economics and Marketing Major)

Chair

UCOL Board

Mark Cleaver 
BAgr, Grad DipBusSt

Deputy Chair

Linda Stewart 
BSc (Hons), Equine 
and Human Sports 
Science 

Hon Steve Maharey 
CNZM, BA, MA 
(Hons) Barry Jordan 

FCA
Lyal French-Wright 
BSc

Katarina Hina 
Advanced Certificate 
in Adult Teaching

Sam Huggard 
Ex Officio, BA, 
GDipNFP

Directors

Executive Leadership Team 
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L to R: Linda Stewart, Verne Atmore (Chair), Hon Steve Maharey, Barry Jordan, Lyal French-Wright. Absent: Mark Cleaver, 
Lorraine Stephenson, Katarina Hina.

L to R: Back row: Penny O’Leary, Jasmine Groves, Teina Mataira, Dan Lester, Dean Rankin, Christine Beech, Brian Trott. Front row: Danny Reilly, 
Gianetta Lapsley, Dr Linda Sissons. Absent: Dr Arthur Chin, Dr Jerry Shearman.

UCOL Board 2021

Executive Leadership Team and Executive Deans 2021
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OUR UCOL STAFF
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Our Staff 
At UCOL we value our skilled and committed staff, who 
are engaged to deliver our vision of inspiring students, 
businesses, and communities to succeed. UCOL’s vision 
is to be “the Skills Engine driving the economic and social 
development of the Central North Island”, and we enjoy 
recognising excellence and investing in staff development.

Providing an environment where individuals can develop 
their lives and careers is at the heart of what we do, 
and this is as true for our staff as it is for our students. 
We embrace diversity, talent, and performance. Our 
employees come from a wide range of backgrounds 
– some from within industry who are keen to pass on 
their knowledge, and others with existing academic and 
professional backgrounds.

Students at UCOL learn from staff who care about the 
success of UCOL and their students, and who are dual 
professionals – not just teachers, but also experts in their 
fields. Their ongoing connections with industry mean that 
UCOL’s programmes prepare students to find their place in 
the community and economy.

Workshops were also held to ensure targeted capability 
building in the following areas:

• Te Tiriti o Waitangi

• Mental Health First Aid

• Professional boundaries

• Enhancing student learning through effective teaching

• Lockdown training

• Crucial Conversations

• Leadership Development

All campuses have start of year and mid-year pōwhiri for 
new students and staff. UCOL’s employee orientation 
programme occurs monthly with a mihi whakatau for 
new staff. Staff have been very engaged with this simple 
process of their acknowledgement and feedback has been 
extremely positive.
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NGĀ UARA VALUES IN ACTION

Whanaungatanga Relationships
Connecting with people and establishing meaningful 
relationships built on trust and integrity is vital. Great 
relationships result in collaboration, partnerships and 
unity. At UCOL we embrace diversity and inclusivity of 
all people. Relationships form between students, staff, 
employers and support networks in our communities, 
weaving a strong and positive structure that nurtures 
success.

The graphic takes inspiration from two half circle 
shapes inter-twining. These shapes show connections 
forming a bond. The lines into these two shapes come 
from different directions, illustrating that at UCOL 
we are made up of people from different places, that 
connect or meet in the middle.

Kia Eke Panuku, Eke Tangaroa 
Excellence
Everywhere we look at UCOL we seek innovation 
and quality that defines us as a high performing 
institute. We strive for excellence in our programmes, 
our teaching methods, our resources, campus 
environments, and systems and processes. We want to 
see people excelling at what they do and be proud of 
what we achieve.

The two directions reflect how staff meet in the middle 
with students where they gain knowledge to take with 
them in their different directions in life. The half X 
shape is easy to recognise and relates to the Excellence 
value, people’s minds will fill in the gap.

Te Huringa Whakaaro 
Transformation
Transformation requires inspiration, and bold, 
courageous behaviour. We take pride in being a part 
of the transformation that occurs in our students as 
they become successful graduates and alumni. As staff, 
we seek to use our multiple talents to continuously 
improve and grow. UCOL is always looking at fresh 
ideas, becoming bigger, better and brighter.

This icon puts the two connected half circle shapes into 
a new shape representing the butterfly. The butterfly 
is one of the most transformative symbols known, 
representing growth, change and development. This is 
what we want for UCOL and everyone that is connected 
with us.

Kia Kakamā Agility
This value shows that we can work in many different 
ways. We are adaptable and agile in the way we work 
with others. Through engagement, empowerment 
and innovation we develop deeper understanding and 
discover new ways of achieving our goals.

The shapes are showing two different directions and 
the curves show that this movement is ongoing, not 
stagnant. They work around each other in a way that 
can continue and not disrupt each other. This shows 
that we have continuity with each other and our roles 
as we embrace agility.
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Equal Education Opportunities 
In order for our students to succeed, they must be in the 
right programme at the right time and be supported as 
they progress through their studies.

UCOL believes the study journey starts with the first touch 
– whether that is a UCOL person or collateral – which 
usually occurs well before a student arrives at one of our 
campuses.

Subject-matter experts and our engagement team 
pay careful attention to providing students with the 
information they need to make sound choices, and we 
have established communication channels that are in 
many cases bespoke to each given programme.

In addition to having academic support, many students 
engage in pre-enrolment conversations (kōrero process) 
to identify interests and existing skills and be placed in 
the best programmes to meet their expectations. This 
support continues once they are enrolled to optimise their 
ability to succeed. Ongoing support is provided through a 
mix of subject-matter experts teaching our learners, the 
various student academic support mechanisms through 
our Student Success teams, and the wider Te Mana Tauira 
support services; targeted support for priority learners, 
including Māori and Pasifika learners, learners with 
disabilities and our dual-enrolment students through the 
U-skills Academy (Trades Academy).

Throughout their time at UCOL, students have access to 
a range of services that can support them and help them 
reach their potential. The Student Success team take a 
student lifecycle approach and engage with students at 
any time from pre-enrolment. In addition to academic and 
learning support, services cover all needs that students 
may require support with such as disability, counselling 
and mental health, financial and welfare.

We continue to provide as many opportunities as we 
can for prospective and returning students to engage 
with UCOL through information evenings, meetings and 
whānau hui.

UCOL continues to support the ‘Kick For The Seagulls’ 
numeracy and literacy skills prison education rehabilitation 
programme and in 2021 we partnered with four prisons to 
provide this.

29.7% of UCOL’s students identify as being of Māori 
descent, 6% are of Pasifika descent. This continues the 
high Māori student participation rate at UCOL. The wider 
rohe/region Māori population is around 18 percent in the 
Manawatū/Whanganui/Horowhenua and Wairarapa region 
(2013 Census – Statistics NZ; 2018 Census data is not yet 
available at the time of this report).

UCOL Māori students identify with 107 iwi groups across 
the country, with the majority being from Ngāti Porou (East 
Coast), Ngāpuhi (Northland/Auckland), Ngāti Kahungunu 
(Hawke’s Bay), followed by Tūwharetoa (Taupō) and Te 
Atihaunui-A-Pāpārangi (Whanganui/Rangītikei). Māori staff 
are equally diverse with their iwi affiliations.

Legislation used for EEO planning at UCOL:
• Education and Training Act (2020)

• Equal Pay Act (1972)

• Health and Disability Commissioner Act (1994)

• State Sector Act Amendment No.2 (2004)

• Human Rights Act (1993)

• Employment Relations Act (2000)

• Health and Safety in Employment Act (2015) and its 
Amendments

18%
WIDER ROHE/
REGION MĀORI 

Manawatū
Whanganui
Horowhenua
Wairarapa

(2013 Census – Statistics NZ; 2018 Census data 
is not yet available at the time of this report)

29.7%
MĀORI DESCENT

6%
PACIFIC DESCENT

UCOL STUDENTS
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Equal Employment Opportunities
We are committed to creating an inclusive environment 
that supports the aspirations of all people regardless of 
gender, ethnicity, culture, disability, sexual orientation, 
family responsibilities, age, religion and family status, or 
people who have been affected by domestic violence. 
We are committed to ensuring that all employees are 
supported in order for them to perform at their full 
potential, and to eliminate the barriers that cause or 
perpetuate inequality in employment.

UCOL’s EEO Policy sets out the framework within which we 
undertake to meet our equity obligations.

Our Commitment to Equity and Diversity
UCOL appoints staff to all positions on the basis of merit 
from a wide cross-section of talent. We define merit 
as including knowledge, skills and abilities, experience, 
personal qualities as well as formal qualifications.

As at 31 December 2021 we employed 63.01% females, 
36.77% males and 0.22% gender diverse staff.

Our Commitment to Te Tiriti o Waitangi - Diversity 
Strategies
Māori staffing increased to 14.71% (0.36% increase), lower 
than we would like in order to provide representation 
across staff and management and reflect our student 
population. We have included the need to increase Māori 
representation as one of our key priorities within UCOL’s 
2022 strategic plan.

Te Pūkenga Expectations and Te Waka Hourua - Māori 
Success Strategy
Te Waka Hourua strategy guides us in our journey to 
achieve ōritetanga/parity of Māori student achievement 
rates with those of other student groups at UCOL.

He Kākano Rua – UCOL’s Cultural Competency 
Framework
This framework guides staff in their journey to increasing 
their cultural competency and apply this in their practice. 
The He Kākano Rua facilitator team was recruited in 2021 
and commenced operation across all UCOL campuses.

In 2021, we continued to hold the following kaupapa to 
support the implementation of this framework:

• Tangata Tiriti – Workshops were held in October with 
47 staff attending. UCOL is committed to ensuring all 
staff attend Tangata Tiriti workshops; currently a total 
of 276 staff have received this training since 2017.
In 2022, we will be offering Tangata Tiriti training at a 
higher level also.

• Te Pae Tawhiti Te Tiriti Excellence Framework  
(Te Pūkenga).

Iwi Māori and Community Engagement
The Māori and Pasifika Trades Training consortia Te 
Mataora continued to guide and lead our Māori Pasifika 
Trades Training (MPTT) programme at a governance level 
which is made up of regional Iwi members, representatives 
from Pasifika, and wider community.

Within the MPTT programme we offer a work-ready 
support programme on each campus. Occurring 
fortnightly (and often weekly), this programme has good 
attendance and participation, and is done in partnership 
with an extensive network of community organisations. We 
have already seen that this programme improves students’ 
opportunities for work experience.

We continue to work alongside regional Iwi representatives 
to share initiatives and assist in Iwi training and education 
development goals.

Our formal relationship with Te Rūnanga o Ngāti Apa/Ngā 
Wairiki at Rangitīkei has grown from strength to strength. 
We have an ongoing commitment to work in partnership 
to bring training and education to their iwi descendants, as 
well as the wider Marton community.

Te Whakapiki Mātauranga Accord was renewed with  
Te Puna Mātauranga O Whanganui Incorporated in 2021.  
Te Puna and UCOL have experience of partnering on 
educational initiatives, reflecting a shared commitment 
to improve Māori success at higher levels of retention, 
progression, and course and qualification completion. We 
also began working with Rauru Kiitahi in Whanganui.

We continue to have strong relationships with regional 
Marae. Together with Ngāti Kahungunu and Rangitāne O 
Wairarapa, work goes on to restore Te Amorangi whare on 
the UCOL Wairarapa campus.

In 2021, UCOL expanded into Tūrangi to provide a 
construction programme which involved a partnership 
with Ngāti Tūwharetoa. We consider this rural learning 
hub to be a shining example of a great iwi and institution 
relationship.

At the heart of Te Pūkenga is the ‘Letter of Expectations’ 
with a commitment to Māori learners being the main 
focus. As part of the transition process, all 16 subsidiaries 
undertook a self-assessment exercise to ascertain 
their current level of commitment to Te Tiriti. This was 
submitted to Te Pūkenga who will be providing feedback 
and guidance. In 2021, we continued to go through the 
transformation into Te Pūkenga.
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Health and Safety at UCOL
Health and Safety at UCOL 
The key focus for the Health, Safety and Wellbeing Team 
throughout 2021 was ensuring that our systems and 
processes are fit for purpose and also reflect best practice 
given that we were part of a changing global pandemic.

COVID-19 presented an unplanned opportunity to test, 
review and strengthen our Emergency Management and 
Business Continuity Plans to ensure they reflected the 
changing requirements for staff, students and contractors 
across all of our campuses. Notwithstanding the specific 
impacts on UCOL, the pandemic has affected everything 
and everyone, nationally and globally. UCOL ensured that 
staff and student wellbeing was one of our top priorities 
which included up to date and timely communications 
and where to go for support as well as staying safe in our 
community.

Wellbeing – Vaccination Programmes
During 2021, UCOL arranged COVID-19 vaccinations for 
staff, students and their whānau. Vaccination clinics were 
held across all campuses so staff, students and their 
whānau could receive their first and second COVID-19 
vaccinations. Just over 1600 vaccinations were given and 
UCOL intends to arrange COVID booster vaccinations early 
in 2022.

Worksafe NZ Student Pilot Programme – Kia Oho Ake
UCOL was chosen as one of the organisations that 
WorkSafe NZ would work with to develop their Kia Oho 
Ake pilot programme. This pilot scheme involved WorkSafe 
inspectors working alongside lecturers and students on 
campus at various intervals over the year’s construction 
programme delivery. The purpose was to pass on industry 
knowledge from the inspectors to construction students 
so they understood and recognised risks on the work site 
and what considerations or actions they needed to take to 
mitigate risks.

This programme was delivered over the Manawatū, 
Horowhenua and Wairarapa campuses starting from the 
second semester and resource material was developed 
for further use by lecturers and students which is available 
electronically to this group.

At the end of 2021 a hui was held with all participants 
to gather information and their view of the pilot 
programme. An outcome from this hui was to continue the 
development of this pilot programme across other areas 
for use in the wider community.

Emergency Management – Lockdown Simulations and 
Training
During 2021 emergency lockdown simulations were 
run on the Wairarapa, Whanganui and Horowhenua 
campuses. This allowed us to test our systems and identify 
where any gaps were so they could be addressed. The 
Manawatū campus training and simulation was cancelled 
due to a COVID-19 lockdown. Lockdown training will be 
rescheduled for 2022.

Risk Management
The Compliance, Risk and Governance group are currently 
transitioning to a new risk management system which will 
incorporate corporate risk and health and safety. The new 
system is call Protecht and should be up and running early 
2022.

TOTAL NUMBER OF UCOL STAFF: 411  (ACADEMIC: 229   |   GENERAL: 182) 

EUROPEAN
47.69%

OTHER
18.07%

NO RESPONSE
4.2%

NZ MĀORI
14.71%
NZ EUROPEAN
8.61%
NEW ZEALANDER
6.72%

INCREASE
0.36%
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Statement of Research
2021 provided a challenging year for research for staff 
teaching within UCOL degree programmes due to the 
impacts of COVID-19, however despite this, staff have 
continued to progress their research with some excellent 
research outputs and awards occurring during this time. 
UCOL currently delivers nine degree programmes and one 
masters’ programme. A summary of the research progress 
and achievements for each of these areas is outlined 
below.

Research Statements
Within the Bachelor of Applied Management, staff 
teaching on this programme made good progress on 
their planned research activities with the publication 
of two journal articles in international journals and one 
accepted for publication. Staff managed one conference 
presentation in 2021, and have progressed six further 
research projects with many of these having planned 
outputs for 2022, with research focused on both education 
and business research topics. A highlight of this team’s 
research is the collaboration with other subsidiaries and 
tertiary institutions in New Zealand and overseas. 

Staff teaching on the Bachelor of Information and 
Communication Technology programme had a successful 
year of research, with the publication of four peer-
reviewed journal articles, and one currently under review, 
one conference presentation, and 10 active research 
projects that are progressing, many with research 
outputs planned for 2022 or 2023. Current research 
projects highlight a high level of collaboration both within 
UCOL (especially with staff teaching on our Business 
degree) and externally, with researchers at other tertiary 
institutions both in New Zealand and overseas. The journal 
publications cover a range of ICT areas.

While the Bachelor of Applied Science (Laboratory 
Science) is a new degree to UCOL, the staff teaching on 
this programme have achieved some excellent research 
outputs over the past two years. 2021 was again a 
successful year for this team, with two journal articles 
accepted for publication in international journals. The 
team also currently has 12 active research projects 
and have demonstrated their strong links with industry 
through publication of three industry reports. 

TE MAHI RANGAHAU RESEARCH

Staff teaching on the Bachelor of Social Services have also 
made good progress in developing their research profile, 
with this degree only having its second year of delivery 
in 2021. One staff member has two journal articles ready 
for submission. Other staff have initiated three additional 
research projects in 2021. A focus for 2022 for this team 
is to strengthen their research through collaboration with 
other subsidiaries teaching this qualification.

Research within the Bachelor of Applied Science (Medical 
Imaging Technology) in 2021 was significantly impacted 
by COVID-19. This team has three identified research 
projects involving most of the staff teaching on this 
programme, including a collaborative project within UCOL 
looking at “3D printing applications for radiography and 
impact on study learning experiences”. The focus for this 
team for 2022 is on progressing these research projects, 
with outputs planned for 2022, along with developing 
other research opportunities in collaboration with other 
subsidiaries.

Staff on the Bachelor of Creative Media are currently 
involved in a total of twelve research projects across a 
range of specialities within the Creative Media portfolio 
(photography, video, illustration, animation, projection 
mapping and 3D printing). Two staff members are working 
towards their Master of Design qualifications, with their 
research focused on this. The Bugs research project, 
examining where science meets art, culminated in an eight 
month exhibition at Te Manawa Museum in Palmerston 
North. COVID-19 and the associated lockdowns had an 
impact on the progress of research projects and the 
potential for staff to exhibit their work, with the focus 
being on supporting our students and their learning over 
this time. The staff and students again performed well at 
the New Zealand Institute of Professional Photography 
(NZIPP) Awards, and were presented with The Silver Spool 
award for their outstanding support for the photographic 
industry throughout New Zealand. The team developed a 
strong connection with industry through industry projects 
and research, including a concept design for projection 
mapping and storytelling. 
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Staff on the Bachelor of Design & Art, and the 
Postgraduate Diploma/Master of Design, were engaged 
in a total of eight research projects in 2021 across a 
range of areas within the Art & Design Qualifications. 
Research included areas of visual communication, graphic 
design and typography, animation, projection mapping, 
photography, glass and 3D printing, fashion and textile 
arts. Researchers are engaged internationally and locally 
and have ongoing collaborations with Whanganui and 
Partners. Two staff members played active roles in helping 
Whanganui achieve Whanganui’s City of Design status.

A staff member was awarded a Merit Award at the 2021 
Portage Ceramic Awards, and had her first solo exhibition 
in Christchurch. Another staff member was a finalist for 
the Parkin Drawing Prize, with one also receiving second in 
the Sarjeant Art Review. One staff member exhibited her 
Masters work locally at UCOL’s Edith Gallery in Whanganui. 
As with past years, this team is very focused on research 
and is well positioned to expand their research activity in 
2022.

The staff research within the Bachelor of Applied Science 
(Physical Health & Wellness; Strength & Conditioning; 
Sport & Recreation Management) have continued their 
work that has seen them achieve a high level of research 
outputs despite the impact of COVID-19. The team 
currently has nine research projects, with them achieving 
two journal article publications, with a third journal article 
currently under review. The remaining projects have 
targeted research outputs planned for 2022.

Staff research within the Bachelor of Nursing continued to 
develop in 2021 the research projects that were initiated 
in 2020. The Research Plan for the degree identified eight 
research projects involving a number of staff across a 
range of areas relevant to the curriculum. 

There had been some reallocation of staff across projects 
due to staff resignations which saw these projects 
progress in 2021. There are currently nine active research 
projects within the Nurse Education Team, with the team 
achieving one published journal article. In addition, the 
community research projects, involving our students, 
undertaken across all three delivery sites have made a 
difference to many of our community partners, with a plan 
to progress towards publishing a number of these in 2022. 
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Research Outputs
Awards
du Chatenier, A. Softfall (Merit Award), 2021 Portage 

Ceramic Awards.

Stellar, K. Finalist, 2021 Parkin Drawing Prize. 

Rotherham, I. New Zealand Institute of Professional 
Photography (NZIPP) Iris Awards – 5 x Bronze Awards 

Le Roux, G. New Zealand Institute of Professional 
Photography (NZIPP) Iris Awards – 3 x Silver Awards & 2 
x Bronze Awards

Journal or Book Articles:
Travis, S. K., Pritchard, H. J., Mujika, I., Gentles, J. A., 

Stone, M. H., & Bazyler, C. D. (2021). Characterizing the 
tapering practices of United States and Canadian raw 
powerlifters. The Journal of Strength and Conditioning 
Research, 35(Suppl 2), S26–S35. https://doi.org/10.1519/
JSC.0000000000004177

McKune A., Semple, S., & Starzac, D. (In Press). Leukocyte, 
C-reactive protein and cardiovascular risk marker 
response to 10 weeks of downhill, uphill and level 
training in overweight middle-aged males. Journal of 
Science in Sport and Exercise.

Ifeanyieze, K. J., Ayiya, B. B., Okpareke, O. C., Groutso, T. V., 
& Asegbeloyin, J. N. (In Press). Crystal structure, Hirshfeld 
surface and computational study of 1-(9,10-dihydro-
9,10-dioxoanthracen-1-yl)-3-propionylthiourea. 
Acta Crystallographica Section E Crystallographic 
Communications, 78 (4), 439-444; https://doi.org/10.1107/
s2056989022003127 

Gilbey, A., Walmsley, S., Tani, K., & Reweti, S. (2021). 
Decision making dyads and judgement overconfidence: 
Implications for high-risk industries. Applied Ergonomics, 
97(1), 103529.

Tani, K. (2021). Those Who Can Do, Teach: The importance 
of bridging the delivery and application of learning in 
tertiary education. Scope. https://doi.org/10.34074/
scop.4010005

Bashir, Z., Malik, M.G., Hussain, M., & Iqbal, N. (2021). 
Multiple RGB images encryption algorithm based 
on elliptic curve, improved Diffie Hellman protocol. 
Multimedia Tools and Applications, 1-31.

Mahnaz, S., Ali, J., Malik, M. A., & Bashir, Z. (2021). 
T-Spherical Fuzzy Frank Aggregation Operators and their 
application to decision making with unknown weight 
information. IEEE Access, 10, 7408-7438. 

Ehambaranathan, N. & O’Cornor. (In Press). Evaluating 
the travelling inequality and final positions of teams 
in a European Polycentric Tournament: Euro 2020. 
International Journal of Sport, Exercise and Health Research.

Mustafa, M., Adams S., Bareham, C., & Carryer, J. (2021) 
Employing nurse practitioners in general practice: An 
exploratory survey of the perspectives of managers. 
Journal of Primary Health Care. 13, 274-282. https://doi.
org/10.1071/HC21036 

Conference Presentations:
Travis, S. K., Pritchard, H. J., Mujika, I., & Bazyler, C. 

D. (2021). Characterizing the Tapering Practices of 
International Level North American Powerlifters. 
2020 NSCA Research Abstracts, Journal of Strength and 
Conditioning Research, 35(4), e344-e245. https://doi.
org/10.1519/JSC.0000000000003877

Tani, K. (2021). Those Who Can Do, Teach: The importance 
of bridging the delivery and application of learning in 
tertiary education. New Zealand Vocational Education 
and Training Research Forum (NZVETRF), online 8-9 
September 2021.

Morison, T. & Meates, M. (2021).Enhancing nurse 
education to support transgender people’s 
healthcare [oral presentation]. Education, PATHA 
Symposium 2021 [2nd presentation]. https://www.
youtube.com/watch?v=KzhMNpic8RQ&list=PLuMd_
C5DtDFUS759IwB9nuGWRiVFEZwpt&index=14 

Conference Proceedings or Other Publications:
Charles, S. (2021). Concussion and low mood: Effects on 

participation in physical activity. Hauora Research. https://
hail.to/hauora-research/publication/YuuXblc/article/
XEFlgZSL

Pascoe, I. (Host), Bolton, M., Stewart, RJ, Oliver 
C. (08/09/21). Episode 3 [Audio podcast 
episode]. Greatest milk showdown of all time. 
LittleOak. https://open.spotify.com/episode/ 
3jCnCMfAf0fu8BnqzQBhEE?si=HkFxy3C9SziBHbxi 
FlpuKw&nd=1

McNicholl, G., & Stewart, R.J. (2021). Industry Report: 
Sialic Acid Analysis. Fonterra Research and Development 
Centre.

Nowakowsky, K., & Stewart, R.J. (2021). Industry Report: 
Transfer Probability of Listeria via factory vectors. Fonterra 
Research and Development Centre.

Stewart, R.J. (2021). Industry Report: Before Cow 
Environmental Benefits. Pitchblack partners. 

Whiting, G., Andrews, P., Falkner, T. (2021). Matariki: 
Waiti – The Fresh Water Star. [Industry Projection 
Presentation]. Globe Theatre, 6th July, 2021.

Exhibitions:
du Chatenier, A. EIGENLEBEN, The National, 249 

Moorhouse Ave, Christchurch. June 2nd – 27th, 2021. 

Stellar, K. Sense of Place Exhibition. Edith Gallery, 
Whanganui. February 2021.

 https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0000000000004177
 https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0000000000004177
https://doi.org/10.1107/s2056989022003127
https://doi.org/10.1107/s2056989022003127
https://doi.org/10.34074/scop.4010005
https://doi.org/10.34074/scop.4010005
https://doi.org/10.1071/HC21036
https://doi.org/10.1071/HC21036
https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0000000000003877
https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0000000000003877
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KzhMNpic8RQ&list=PLuMd_C5DtDFUS759IwB9nuGWRiVFEZwpt&index=14
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KzhMNpic8RQ&list=PLuMd_C5DtDFUS759IwB9nuGWRiVFEZwpt&index=14
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KzhMNpic8RQ&list=PLuMd_C5DtDFUS759IwB9nuGWRiVFEZwpt&index=14
https://hail.to/hauora-research/publication/YuuXblc/article/XEFlgZSL
https://hail.to/hauora-research/publication/YuuXblc/article/XEFlgZSL
https://hail.to/hauora-research/publication/YuuXblc/article/XEFlgZSL
https://open.spotify.com/episode/3jCnCMfAf0fu8BnqzQBhEE?si=HkFxy3C9SziBHbxiFlpuKw&nd=1
https://open.spotify.com/episode/3jCnCMfAf0fu8BnqzQBhEE?si=HkFxy3C9SziBHbxiFlpuKw&nd=1
https://open.spotify.com/episode/3jCnCMfAf0fu8BnqzQBhEE?si=HkFxy3C9SziBHbxiFlpuKw&nd=1
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Introduction
Our Statement of Service Performance, when read 
in conjunction with the Annual Report, provides an 
assessment of our performance against our strategic goals 
for the 2021 Financial Year.

Our Strategic Transition Plan
Kia Eke Panuku, Eke Tangaroa, Reaching New Heights, 
was introduced in 2021 outlining UCOL’s strategic areas 
of focus in preparation for Te Pūkenga. The plan is in 
response to expectations from the Minister of Education, 
the Tertiary Education Commission, and Te Pūkenga. 
UCOL’s vision is to be “the Skills Engine driving the 
economic and social development of the Central North 
Island”. 

The Plan focuses the institutional overarching commitment 
to Te Mana Tauira and four key goals:

• Partnerships that Make a Difference

• An Institution for the 21st Century

• All Our People are Equipped for the New World

• Global Outreach and Globalisation

The Plan was prepared with input from UCOL staff and 
stakeholders and approved by the UCOL Board. The 
flexible and fast moving pace of 2021 initiated several 
moments of re-focus to ensure high priority areas 
remained at the forefront.

Tertiary Education Strategy
The updated Tertiary Education Strategy (TES) released 
in late 2020 sets out Government’s refreshed current 
and medium-term priorities, and long-term strategic 
direction for tertiary education consistent with the review 
of vocational education (ROVE). The strategy is intended to 
address economic, social and environmental goals, and the 
development aspirations of Māori and other population 
groups, placing learners and their whānau at the centre of 
education. Tertiary Education Organisations such as UCOL 
are required to show how they have regard for the Tertiary 
Education Strategy.

NGĀ HUANGA STATEMENT OF 
SERVICE PERFORMANCE 2021

Te Pūkenga Educational Priorities
Te Pūkenga, UCOL’s parent body, has five educational 
priorities consistent with the TES, and are as follows:

• A relentless focus on equity and ensuring participation 
– honour and uphold Te Tiriti o Waitangi

• Delivering customised learning approaches that meet 
the needs of learners and trainees wherever they are

• Using size and scale to strengthen the quality and 
range of education delivery throughout Aotearoa. 
Excellence in educational provision for all

• Services that meet the specific regional needs of 
employers and communities

• Transition educational services in a smooth and 
efficient manner

Our Investment Plan 2019-2021
In 2019 UCOL re-negotiated its Investment Plan for 
2019-2021 with the Tertiary Education Commission. 
The Investment Plan confirmed our commitment to 
the Tertiary Education Strategy (TES) and how UCOL 
contributes to the TES priorities. This work continued in 
2021.

Te Pūkenga Charter and Letter of 
Expectations
In addition to the above, UCOL is bound by Te Pūkenga’s 
Charter and Letter of Expectations. These two key 
documents have guided UCOL’s future activities and 
Strategic Transition Business Plan.
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Our Institutional Overarching Commitment to Te Mana Tiriti
In 2021, UCOL focused on increasing the quality and depth of 
our fidelity in giving effect to Te Tiriti through our management 
and operations. This was measured through increases to Māori 
staff and student participation; enhanced Iwi Māori engagement; 
escalation of implementation of He Kākano Rua (cultural 
competency framework), and contribution to Te Pae Tawhiti. 

Partnerships that Make a Difference
Also, in 2021, UCOL focused on active collaboration with regional 
and national industry and employment opportunities to improve 
workforce development outcomes and, contributing to the 
development and expertise of Te Pūkenga. This was measured 
through the achievement of specific regional skills initiatives and 
the recognition of the strengths of our contributions to  
Te Pūkenga.

An Institution for the 21st Century
In 2021, UCOL focused on ensuring strong vocational education 
options for prospective learners in subjects where there are skills 
shortages and high employment potential. Priority was placed 
on learner access in regional locations (Blended Delivery Project 
launched), and educational continuity when COVID-19 impacted 
classes and work placements. This was measured through the 
Blended Delivery project milestones, educational performance 
indicators, and learner voice. 

All Our People are Equipped for the New World
In 2021, UCOL focused on development and implementation 
of the UCOL Capabilities Framework to develop its workforce 
to take advantage of the opportunities possible as part of the 
review of vocational education and transition to Te Pūkenga. This 
was measured through staff participation (high) and successful 
implementation of initiatives and analysis of student voice. 

Global Outreach and Globalisation
In 2021, UCOL focused on maintaining strong relationships 
within New Zealand and offshore, and staying abreast of and 
contributing to the national analysis of the international student 
market in the context of the closed travel border.

TE AROTAHI NGĀ 
PAEARU AREAS 
OF FOCUS AND 
MEASURES OF 
SUCCESS
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** Educational performance results reflect those available as of 31 December 2021 and are interim only. Some student results continue to be 
processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2021 are 
made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2021 in the 2022 Annual Report.

Measures of Success

Increase Participation in Tertiary Education

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2018 2019 2020 2021 2021

To increase the number of domestic EFTS 3,121 2,811 2,785 3,068 3,251 

To increase the number of international EFTS 209 222 220 123 277 

To increase the number of base SAC level 3 and above EFTS 2,643 2,399 2,352 2,612 2,739 

To increase the number of students [individuals] 6,484 5,786 5,907 6,459 7,200 

2018 2019 2020 2021 INTERIM 2021 TARGET
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PARTICIPATION IN TERTIARY EDUCATION
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Domestic EFTS International EFTS Base SAC level 3 and above EFTS Students [individuals]
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UCOL achieved overall 10%** growth in domestic 
Equivalent Full Time Students (EFTS) in 2021 and 
similar growth in the associated student numbers 
(9%**) compared to 2020. The increased participation 
reflected the success of UCOL’s industry and community 
engagement. UCOL actively supported the TEC Targeted 
Training and Apprenticeship Fund (TTAF) and promoted 
the opportunity to employer partners to build a pipeline 
of work-ready graduates who are productive from day 
one on the job. With the labour market shortages across 
New Zealand, UCOL proactively worked with employers in 
several disciplines to enable learners to complete multi-
year programmes by studying part time while employed 
rather than learners ceasing study when they secure 
employment.

The growth achievement in Student Achievement 
Component (SAC) funding at level 3 and above was slightly 
higher at just over 11% compared to 2020. In addition to 
the increased interest in selected trades and health and 
wellbeing programmes supported by the TTAF, the quality 
of the automotive engineering programme continued to 
attract students in excess of the targets, who chose UCOL 
as their preferred provider. While a positive outcome, this 
growth achievement was just over 60% of the growth in 
EFTS targeted for 2021, in a buoyant labour market and 
very low regional unemployment.

New programme additions to the academic portfolio 
provided a wider range of options for learners with 
Plumbing, Gasfitting and Drainlaying; Business (Accounting 
Support Services); Apiculture and Farming Skills; the 
second year of the new Bachelor of Social Services, and 
the New Zealand Certificate in Early Childhood Education 
and Care Level 4, the minimum qualification requirement 
for licensed home-based educators, with keen interest in 
upskilling by many in this workforce.

The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic continued to be 
managed with the 17 August 2021 lockdown pivoting 
our teaching delivery to online and distance learning 
for an interim period through to September. Learner 
participation was monitored closely and was mostly 
successful in maintaining engagement. The Student 
Success teams provided essential learning, physical and 
emotional support for learners during and after this 
second lockdown for UCOL. Being later in the year, most 
students were already well underway or nearing the finish 
of programmes and the impact on student participation 
was more manageable, with fewer withdrawals and 
enrolment cancellations (compared to the 2020 lockdown) 
due to the timing. Participation of UCOL learners in their 
clinical and practicum placements at this critical stage 
of their programme was disrupted in some disciplines. 
This was due to some employers/placement providers 
acting with an abundance of caution and excluding not 
fully COVID-19 vaccinated students from placements. 
These issues took several weeks to work through in some 
cases, to ensure that all students who required practicum 
placement achieved this.

SAC FUNDING IN
L3 & ABOVE

GROWTH IN
11%

EFTS IN 2021
GROWTH IN
10%**
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Increase Participation Rates for Māori, Pasifika, and Under 25s

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2018 2019 2020 2021 2021

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC levels 63.9% 64.7% 64.3% 65.7% 67.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 52.3% 52.9% 52.0% 49.9% 50.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 64.8% 64.4% 64.1% 68.0% 63.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 73.0% 72.6% 71.7% 72.7% 72.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 69.8% 66.7% 85.7% 100.0% 64.0%

Māori

All SAC levels 32.1% 31.2% 30.5% 29.7% 33.2%

SAC levels 1 to 3 43.3% 41.8% 41.3% 44.3% 43.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non degree) 30.7% 31.7% 30.8% 27.8% 33.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 23.7% 23.7% 23.9% 22.8% 23.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 30.2% 33.3% 14.3% N/A 30.0%

Pasifika

All SAC levels 5.8% 6.1% 7.5% 6.4% 6.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 6.9% 8.8% 10.2% 8.9% 7.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non degree) 6.2% 5.8% 7.4% 5.9% 4.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 4.4% 4.9% 6.1% 5.6% 5.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 N/A N/A N/A N/A 6.0%

Under 25 year olds

All SAC levels 57.5% 55.3% 55.1% 52.7% 61.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 63.1% 61.4% 62.7% 56.5% 64.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 55.5% 54.0% 55.0% 52.1% 59.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 55.4% 52.9% 50.9% 51.2% 59.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 N/A 22.2% N/A N/A N/A
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Participation rates in Māori and Pasifika priority learner 
groups held steady while Under-25s continued to soften 
as indicated by the decrease in the national school leaver 
population group. UCOL runs a very successful Trades 
Academy funded by the Ministry of Education (MoE) where 
learners gain sufficient initial skills to sometimes secure 
apprenticeships or first employment in the favourable 
employment market.

In 2021 the impact of COVID-19 overall on learner 
decisions was mitigated by the relative freedoms in the 
first part of the academic year. The implementation of the 
new Te Mana Tauira directorate and closer association 
of all Student Support services including Raukura 
pastoral care, and Māori and Pasifika Trades Training 
(MPTT) support for eligible students resulted in greater 
cohesion of support for Māori and Pasifika learners. These 

services, the fees and funding support, and the increasing 
community awareness of Ngā Uara - the UCOL Values, and 
Te Atakura, make UCOL a destination of choice for Māori 
and Pasifika learners.

UCOL continues to strive to address the parity of 
participation for Māori learners at higher levels of 
study (level 4 and higher including at degree level). The 
differential in 2021 reversed a trending down from 2018 
figures. This saw a softening in especially the level 4 to 
level 7 (non-degree) participation.

Following on from the 2020 impact of COVID-19 we 
monitored enrolled learner behaviour and noted that the 
opportunity for fulltime employment and greater financial 
security was increasingly cited as the reason for cancelling 
plans to study.

2018 2019 2020 2021 INTERIM 2021 TARGET
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Graduates Enrolling in Further Education
We will improve the number of students progressing to further tertiary education at a higher level.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2018 2019 2020 2021 2021

All Students

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 44.9% 45.1% 47.0% 36.4% 40.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 42.7% 43.0% 44.0% 57.7% 45.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level N/A 44.6% 46.2% 37.9% 49.5%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level N/A 41.7% 42.9% 59.3% 42.0%

Māori

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 41.3% 46.1% 47.7% 31.3% 42.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 53.6% 48.7% 52.0% 46.7% 35.0%

Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 44.3% 48.1% 52.3% 50.0% 50.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 16.7% 37.5% 20.0% 100.0% 42.0%

Under 25 Year olds

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 46.0% 48.0% 46.7% 30.8% 48.0%

Youth Guarantee level 1 to 3 to a higher level 42.7% 43.0% 44.0% 57.7% 45.0%
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From Christmas dinner to Commis Chef
Kelsea Clapp’s love for cooking came from preparing 
Christmas feasts with her grandma while growing up. 
Now she’s working as a chef in one of New Zealand’s great 
tourism towns.

Kelsea’s cooking education began during her secondary 
school years. While at Makoura College, she completed 
UCOL’s STAR Cookery and Barista courses in 2018, before 
moving onto the U-Skills Academy Café Skills programme 
in 2019. STAR and U-Skills Academy programmes give 
secondary school students the chance to learn vocational 
skills at UCOL one day a week.

From there it was an easy decision for Kelsea to enrol in 
UCOL Wairarapa’s NZ Certificate in Cookery and chase a 
career as a chef.

“The tutors are really nice, and I always got along with the 
other students. It was a really helpful environment to learn 
in,” says Kelsea.

The most enjoyable moments for Kelsea were when she 
and her classmates got to cook for the public. The class 
catered a morning tea for the Department of Conservation 

and another for the Wairarapa campus to raise money 
for the Breast Cancer Foundation. The class also ran a 
restaurant night, where they cooked a three-course meal 
for family and friends.

After impressing her employers during work experience 
at Coco Dessert Bar in Masterton, Kelsea’s lecturer Eddie 
presented her with a job opportunity at the Hilton in 
Taupō. At first Kelsea was unsure about moving away from 
home, but with some encouragement from her parents 
she took the job.

Now working as a Commis Chef, Kelsea works alongside 
the Chef de Parties to cook the hotel’s breakfast buffet 
each day. After she’s done with the day’s buffet, she preps 
for the next morning and helps the lunch and dinner chefs 
get ready.

“It’s going really well. I love it. If I didn’t do my UCOL studies 
I wouldn’t be in this position I am in now.”

In the long-term Kelsea wants to be a chef on cruise ships 
so she can travel while she works.

http://STAR
https://www.ucol.ac.nz/programmes/chef-training-hospitality/academy-cafe-skills-programme
https://www.ucol.ac.nz/programmes/chef-training-hospitality/new-zealand-certificate-in-cookery
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Student Satisfaction 
We know that to ensure students succeed academically, a student’s wellbeing must be supported. This is done through our 
Student Success Strategy 2019-2022, which is focused on understanding the student life-cycle, offering early intervention and 
learning support, helping students build their employability, and assessing how our strategies are performing.

We continue to measure students’ satisfaction while they are studying and as they move into employment.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Actual Target

2018 2019 2020 2021 2021

Student Satisfaction Survey – Tōku Reo (My Voice) Survey 
Students’ overall satisfaction

Semester 1 74% 83% N/A* 81% 76%

Semester 2 86% 77% 87% N/A** 87%

Students’ confidence in making the right choice

Semester 1 83% 86% N/A 87%

Semester 2 87% 87% 87% N/A

Students find classes interesting

Semester 1 83% 83% N/A 82%

Semester 2 80% 77% 86% N/A

RateMyQual - MyQ

Students in paid employment six months after graduating N/A N/A 72.75% N/A*** N/A***

Students who believe their qualification prepared them for 
work

N/A N/A 93.25% N/A*** N/A***

*Not complete in Semester 1 2021 due to COVID-19
**Not complete in Semester 2 2021 as not required
***MyQ survey discontinued by CareersNZ

STUDENT SATISFACTION 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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Tōku Reo
Six weeks into their study, students have an opportunity 
to take part in the Student Tōku Reo (My Voice) Survey. 
The aim of this survey is to determine students’ first 
impressions of UCOL and identify areas in which UCOL is 
performing well and areas in which it could improve.

Students remain satisfied with UCOL, and 81% agree that 
their experience has been positive. This result is lower 
than 2020 (87%) but an improvement over 2019 (when the 
level of satisfaction ranged from 72% to 77%). Although the 
rating decreased, the areas highlighted for improvement 
remained similar to previous year’s results and included:

• Providing students with comprehensive information 
before their course starts, especially resources they 
should purchase

• Providing more clarity around course assessments, 
and

• Ensuring students are notified of timetable changes 
with enough time to make alternative plans.

The Teaching and Learning Committee along with 
Executive Deans worked through each of the three areas 
of improvement to discuss resulting actions and initiatives. 
Measures taken to address these suggestions include:

• Review individual programme page content on UCOL’s 
public website (ucol.ac.nz) in terms of quality and 
accuracy of information

• Review ‘Additional costs’ content on UCOL’s public 
website (ucol.ac.nz) for their respective programmes

• Establish a clear process in place, with timelines, for 
communication with students prior to start date for 
each semester

• Develop/review template email for new cohorts, 
discussing what they need to know on their first day

• Develop/review template for general overview plan for 
programme orientation

• Establish a clear process for lecturers to communicate 
any timetable changes to their students in a proactive, 
timely manner and make students aware of this 
process.

Compulsory Student Services Levy
Students were consulted on services offered through the 
Compulsory Student Services Levy, with 101 responses. 
90% of respondents agreed with the services provided. 
When asked how this levy had benefitted them, the 
following was cited:

• Ensures a supportive and stress-free environment

• Meets student specific needs

• Benefits students facing financial hardship

• Increases student interaction

• Improves employability

STUDENT SATISFACTION 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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Student Course Completions

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2018 2019 2020 2021 2021

All Students

All SAC Levels 75.1% 78.5% 77.9% 72.6% 80.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 86.0% 79.4% 75.2% 71.9% 85.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC Levels 79.2% 82.4% 82.0% 75.9% 82.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 89.8% 83.6% 78.2% 76.5% 85.0%

Māori

All SAC Levels 68.0% 71.1% 70.3% 66.9% 76.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 77.6% 68.1% 62.3% 59.8% 80.0%

Pasifika

All SAC Levels 66.2% 66.7% 69.2% 64.1% 77.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 86.6% 100.0% 100.0% 52.0% 91.0%

Under 25 Year olds

All SAC Levels 73.3% 77.7% 77.0% 71.6% 79.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 86.0% 79.4% 75.2% 71.9% 85.0%

STUDENT COURSE COMPLETIONS
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UCOL is satisfied that our students in 2021 achieved well in a second 
year impacted by COVID-19.

Due to the wide geographic region we serve, different parts were 
within different Alert Levels for periods during the year, requiring 
different protocols for in-person classes depending on the campus.

The indicative overall course completion is forecast to be at 
77%, with the extract for the Annual Report at 72.6% reflecting 
the extensions of some assessment due dates, and a number of 
extensions of course end dates (the extraction date was prior to 
all results being received). This was due to learners impacted by 
COVID-19 lockdown 2 for example, the rescheduling of on-site 
workshops and delays in completing practicum and workplace-
based experience, and the workplace introduction of vaccination 
requirement. 

On these results it’s clear that despite COVID-19, Māori achievement 
was far better than non-Māori or Pasifika course achievement. 
This is a testament to the effectiveness of Te Atakura, UCOL’s 
relationship-based pedagogy model. Increased resourcing for  
Te Atakura was proactively invested by UCOL during 2021 which, 
as these results demonstrate, paid off in terms of ākonga Māori 
persistence and success in learning.

STUDENT COURSE COMPLETIONS
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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Students are Retained in Study

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2018 2019 2020 2021 2021

All Students

All SAC Levels 74.9% 73.9% 79.3% 80.7% 74.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 60.3% 64.8% 67.2% 66.2% 67.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 79.3% 75.7% 81.3% 83.1% 84.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC Levels 77.3% 74.8% 81.9% 85.2% 85.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 61.3% 64.9% 69.8% 75.6% 67.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 82.7% 77.0% 84.1% 86.7% 86.0%

Māori

All SAC Levels 70.8% 72.4% 69.5% 67.5% 68.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 63.6% 66.7% 45.5% 45.0% 64.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 72.2% 73.1% 72.3% 71.7% 77.0%

Pasifika

All SAC Levels 56.0% 57.9% 85.2% 79.5% 69.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 33.3% 50.0% 100.0% 40.0% 88.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 63.2% 58.8% 82.6% 85.3% 88.0%

Under 25 Year olds

All SAC Levels 75.8% 72.9% 80.2% 81.0% 79.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 69.8% 69.2% 68.6% 52.9% 79.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 77.3% 73.6% 82.1% 85.7% 83.0%
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2018 2019 2020 2021 INTERIM 2021 TARGET
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) SAC level 7 (degree)All SAC Levels

60
.3

%

74
.9

%

79
.3

%

64
.8

%

73
.9

%

75
.7

%

67
.2

%

79
.3

%

81
.3

%

66
.2

%

80
.7

%

83
.1

%

67
%

74
%

84
%

NON-MĀORI 
AND NON-PASIFIKA

All SAC Levels

RETAINED STUDENTS
85.2%

MĀORI
All SAC Levels

RETAINED STUDENTS
67.5%

UNDER 25 YEAR OLDS
All SAC Levels

RETAINED STUDENTS
81%

THE HIGH AND MOSTLY 
IMPROVING RETENTION RATES
AT LEVEL 7 (DEGREE)

UCOL CONTINUES TO HAVE ONE OF THE 

HIGHEST FIRST YEAR RETENTION RATES 
IN THE SECTOR OVERALL

Students are Retained in Study (All Students)



UCOL Annual Report 2021  |   28

UCOL continues to have one of the highest first year 
retention rates in the sector overall. The interim 
achievement figures for 2021 continue to reflect this, 
with a lift from the previous year overall, and in two 
of the remaining four indicator groupings. In 2021 the 
buoyant employment market saw especially level 4, 5 
and 6 qualification graduates (from 2020) move to full 
employment and not at that point undertaking any higher 
level, multi-year study.

The high and mostly improving retention rates at level 
7 (degree) reflect the commitment to completion by 
these students and strong student learning and pastoral 
support. The graduates are sought after and secure 
employment following graduation. Learners under 25 
years of age studying at degree level showed improved 
retention on previous years and ahead of 2021 targets. 
While Māori student retention in degree programmes was 
on par with previous retention (though down against the 
2021 target), multi-year non-degree programmes (at levels 
4, 5 and 6) reflect a lower retention. There are only a few 
of these programmes in the portfolio, and the decision of 
some students to take a break to take up employment has 
resulted in the reduction in this measure.
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Qualification Completions

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2018 2019 2020 2021 2021

All Students

All SAC Levels 67.0% 66.2% 63.2% 64.0% 64.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 71.1% 81.2% 73.7% 67.4% 80.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC Levels 71.0% 71.9% 65.5% 68.0% 66.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 73.8% 84.9% 72.2% 69.7% 81.0%

Māori

All SAC Levels 60.8% 55.7% 59.3% 56.9% 60.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 62.2% 75.0% 75.0% 57.6% 77.0%

Pasifika

All SAC Levels 61.2% 57.3% 61.1% 53.3% 60.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 71.4% 72.7% 100.0% 100.0% 88.0%

Under 25 Year olds

All SAC Levels 64.5% 65.5% 63.8% 64.2% 62.0%

Youth Guarantee Levels 1 to 3 71.1% 81.2% 73.7% 67.4% 80.0%

UCOL monitored Qualification Completion closely in 
2021 having observed the impact of COVID-19 on this 
performance indicator in 2020 (a slight reduction).

We were satisfied with the interim performance indicator 
at 64% which is expected to finalise several percentage 
points higher with the inclusion of final academic results 
from assessment extensions. This includes an expected lift 
in Māori student Qualification Completion to closer to the 
2020 achievement and target for 2021. The Pasifika interim 
completion rate was a significant and concerning reduction 
on previous achievement and the target for 2021.

Youth Guarantee funded student qualification completion 
at levels 1 to 3 reflected the impact of the lower course 
completion covered earlier. These two aspects are 
being followed up with the relevant programmes to fully 
understand what has brought about these results, and 
to feed into Te Mana Tauira interventions and learning 
support to guard against this in 2022. 

UCOL’s qualification completion rates remain one of the 
highest in the sector in all the above learner and funding 
categories. The sustained support from teaching staff 
during interruptions in delivery, altered timetabling 
due to COVID-19 impacts and the concomitant support 
provided through Raukura and Student Success’ range of 
support services focused on students completing their 
qualifications wherever possible.
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Sixteen UCOL students received a total of $11,500 through 
the institute’s first Women in Trades scholarship. 

Launched in 2021 with support from two confidential 
local donors and Mitre 10, the students used the funding 
to cover the cost of tools, travel expenses, technology 
upgrades, professional development opportunities and 
more.

The goal was straightforward. “We wanted to encourage 
women into the trades sector, help them overcome 
barriers and give them a great kick-start to their career 
so they succeed,” says Danny Reilly, Executive Dean 
Engineering & Applied Technologies. 

New Zealand Diploma in Construction student, Nitisha 
Saras was among the first recipients. She always knew 
construction was her calling but never got the chance to 
pursue it until now. “Choosing this field wasn’t an easy 
choice, given I was leaving 12 years of academic teaching 
experience behind – but I like challenges. I’ve always 
wanted to become a site manager and last year, I decided 
it was time to pursue my lifelong dream,” says Nitisha.

Based in Whanganui, the mum-of-one travels to 
Palmerston North every week to attend lectures. Her 
scholarship fund helped cover the cost of a drivers licence 
test, site boots, and a hard drive for storing her study 
notes. “Travelling and juggling priorities is tiring but I 
enjoyed learning new things. It’s the best decision I’ve 
made and all thanks to UCOL – they recognised my need, 
motivated me, and helped me achieve my academic goal. 
For all this, I’m so grateful,” she adds.

Fellow grant recipient Sarah-Lee Gurnick is currently 
pursuing the New Zealand Certificate in Electrical 
Engineering Theory. She plans to start her own business. 
“My partner is a builder and I’ve always helped him with 
his work projects and thoroughly enjoyed it,” says Sarah-
Lee. After working five years in retail, Sarah-Lee realised 
it wasn’t something she wanted to do for the rest of 
her life. “This and my interest in trades was enough for 
me to make the call. If it wasn’t for UCOL, it would have 
been challenging for me to sort out my tools and travel 
expenses.”

“The best part about my programme was meeting 
like-minded people, to discuss possible theories and 
collaborate on new ideas,” she says.

Women in Trades scholarship helps fund 
‘lifelong dreams’ for students

Nitisha Saras Sarah-Lee Gurnick

https://www.ucol.ac.nz/programmes/construction-built-environment/new-zealand-diploma-in-construction
https://www.ucol.ac.nz/programmes/engineering/new-zealand-certificate-in-electrical-engineering-theory
https://www.ucol.ac.nz/programmes/engineering/new-zealand-certificate-in-electrical-engineering-theory
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UCOL increased attention on business and industry 
partnerships with a particular focus on developing 
relationships and networks and understanding 
needs and future workforce skills. The new portfolio 
formed in 2021 has proactively collaborated on joint 
initiatives and research to understand and support 
the needs of our rohe. UCOL is attuned to the value 
of Manawatū-Whanganui Regional Skills Leadership 

Group and the Wairarapa Skills Leadership Group, and 
is in the information gathering phase as potential new 
opportunities are identified. The UCOL Board hosted 
key relationship events throughout the rohe with very 
positive feedback, attendance and opportunities that were 
followed up. Highlighted at these events were some of the 
partnerships that UCOL is involved in that inspired others 
to reach out.

Stakeholder Engagement

Our Programmes Reflect our Collaboration with Stakeholders

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Interim** Target

2019 2020 2021 2021

Proportion of programmes with an industry engagement component:

Health and Sciences 93% 98% 95% 75%

Humanities and Business 67% 95% 85% 75%

Trades and Applied Technologies 79.3% 91% 90% 75%

Increasing engagement with communities was a key 
focus in 2021 across all campuses. UCOL interacts with 
many agencies, organisations, and community groups, 
identifying areas where there is mutual benefit, and 
ensuring UCOL is listening, participating in opportunities 
and responding to local needs. The year included 
establishing and developing relationships with key 
agencies, youth support networks, local government, and 
Iwi. Economic development and identifying workforce 
future needs are a focus in all communities.

In Horowhenua, a new position of Kaiwhakahaere for the 
campus was created, providing cohesion for staff and 
students, and a key point of contact for the community. 
The campus has gone from strength to strength with this 
position in place, and is outgrowing its current campus 
facilities. During the year the Horowhenua staff were 
applauded for achieving the Dyslexia Friendly Quality 
Mark, the first Institute of Technology and Polytechnic in 
the country to do so.

UCOL Wairarapa introduced a new campus management 
structure, with the result that both Horowhenua and 
Wairarapa campuses were better equipped to interact 
with their communities. In Wairarapa, work was completed 
to introduce a New Zealand Diploma in Performing Arts 
(Māori and Pasific Dance) in 2022 following community 
feedback. Training utilising the facilities at Taratahi 
continued, and the partnership with the Department of 
Conservation at Pūkaha was well supported. The exciting 
renovation of Te Amorangi o Hapai, the community marae 
on UCOL Wairarapa is well underway and expected to 

reopen in the first quarter of 2022. UCOL is a member of 
the Wairarapa Skills Leadership Group with a focus on 
meeting industry training and workforce needs.

UCOL Whanganui continued to strengthen community 
links, with $42,000 of community funded scholarships 
awarded. During a year impacted by COVID-19, these 
scholarships made a big difference to learners and their 
whānau. UCOL Whanganui hosted many community and 
business events, maintaining a strong profile. Engagement 
with Whanganui and Partners, youth support, Ministry of 
Social Development and local Councils.

UCOL Manawatū has a broad portfolio of programmes and 
reach into the community. Engagement occurs at multiple 
layers with key community organisations and UCOL staff. 
The support of local government, CEDA, and the Chamber 
of Commerce is evident. UCOL held the largest Career 
Fair in the country in August, with over a thousand young 
people looking at potential careers and training options 
attending. 

The window of opportunity to host and organise events 
like this within COVID-19 alert level requirements meant 
rapid planning and organisation to pull together. It was the 
busiest day at UCOL in many years, with glowing feedback 
from other providers and businesses who attended. 
A virtual tour of the campus was launched, another 
initiative in response to adapting to alert level changes and 
welcoming prospective learners to UCOL.
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A partnership between Te Ahu a Turanga: Manawatū 
Tararua Highway project and UCOL is providing local 
people with training and employment opportunities on a 
major infrastructure project.

Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency started construction on 
Te Ahu a Turanga in January 2021 and once completed, the 
11.5km, four-lane highway will reconnect communities in 
the east and west of the central North Island.

The partnership between Te Ahu a Turanga and UCOL 
was formed to provide graduates and students with 
experience, training and opportunities in the form of 
internships, apprenticeships and work placements. In 
celebration of the partnership, Te Ahu a Turanga Project 
Director Tony Adams, Waka Kotahi Owner Interface 
Manager Grant Kauri and UCOL Chief Executive Dr Linda 
Sissons signed a Statement of Intent recognising the 
partnership’s aims and intentions.

By providing a training ground to upskill graduates and 
students, opportunities are created for people living in 
the rohe to be part of one of the largest infrastructure 
projects in New Zealand and strengthening the regional 
construction sector with a skilled workforce. 

The partnership between UCOL and Te Ahu a Turanga is a 
great boon, not just for UCOL students but for the whole 
community. Offering work experience and work integrated 
learning on such a large-scale, exciting project is incredibly 
important to the learning journeys of UCOL ākonga.

One UCOL graduate to benefit from this partnership 
is Emily Kang, an engineering cadet who worked on 
the Parahaki Bridge, over the Manawatū River. After 
completing the Level 3 New Zealand Certificate in 
Construction Trades Skills (Carpentry) with UCOL, Emily 
was part of a group selected to take part in a 3-month 
pre-apprenticeship, which included helping with the 
construction of the Project’s Te Whare Pūmanawa office 
site.

Emily has since gained entry for an engineering cadetship 
to work towards a Level 6 New Zealand Diploma in Civil 
Engineering.

Emily said it was an honour to be a part of the Te Ahu a 
Turanga team. “Parahaki Bridge is an incredibly complex 
engineering project and I’m learning new things all the 
time. It’s going to be so impressive when it’s completed, 
so to be part of the team working on such a cool structure 
was extremely rewarding.”

Partnership paves the learning highway
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We are Financially Sustainable
We aim to be a viable and sustainable organisation. We measure our risk profile against the TEC’s Financial Monitoring 
Framework (FMF), seeking a ‘low risk’ rating throughout.

 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Target

2019 2020 2021 2021

Viability risk as measured under the FMF (>3) Low Low Low Low

Sustainability risk as measured under the FMF (>3) Low Low Low Low

Overall risk rating under the FMF Low Low Low Low

Operating surplus before abnormal items (1.4%) 0.2% (3.0%) 3.0%

Net cash flows from operations 108.2% 102.6% 102.8% 111.3%

Liquid Funds Ratio 22.4% 14.23% 13.8% 43.0%

The financial information for this measure is collected 
by the Tertiary Education Commission as part of its 
monitoring framework and reported mid-year after the 
Annual Report is prepared. As a result, an interim measure 
(and prior-year comparative) will be reported in the Annual 
Report and a final result will be reported in the following 
Annual Report.

To meet this target we will continue to:

• Aspire for a 3% return on revenue, with a minimum of 
1%, allowing reinvestment in our organisation and our 
assets; and 

• Manage the property and equipment we own to 
ensure we hold the right assets for our current 
programmes.
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Staff are Engaged in Our Organisation

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Actual Target Committed

2018 2019 2020 2021 2021 2022 2023

Bi-annual staff engagement survey 
completed

N/A No N/A Yes Yes Yes Yes

Staff engagement has continued to be a priority for us as 
an institution. Long standing events such as our annual 
Staff Welcome Day in January and Staff Symposium in July 
are well attended by all staff. These events provide an 
opportunity to bring the entire institution together and 
allow the Executive Leadership Team to share the vision 
and strategic plan for the year with all staff. Everyone 
has the opportunity to engage and ask questions about 
specific topics and priority areas. 

In addition to these key events, UCOL also implemented 
Te Kōrero Ngātahi Team Brief. This monthly face to face 
briefing cascades throughout all teams at UCOL within 
a short timeframe, providing opportunity for topics and 
questions to be fed back to Managers and inform future 
briefings. UCOL also continued with its online, all staff 

meetings inclusive of all campuses, providing staff the 
opportunity to share initiatives and successes, to ask 
questions and interact with the leadership team, and each 
other.

For the first time since 2017 a Workplace Engagement 
Survey (WES) was conducted at UCOL. 

The survey had an excellent response rate with 87% of 
staff engaging in this survey. The overall result was an 
improvement from the previous 2017 survey. As a result 
of the WES, action plans at directorate and team level 
were implemented focusing on key areas identified in the 
survey. Given the gap from our 2017 survey, UCOL has 
committed to another WES being conducted in late 2022 to 
track progress.
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Cost of Services
We provide services in one output class, Tertiary Education. As a result the costs of this output class match the costs of the 
entire organisation.

 $000s
Actual Target

2020 2021 2021

Revenue 50,791 51,358 54,402

Expenditure

Educational Delivery 27,120 28,839 24,937

Educational Support 19,200 19,832 23,613

Depreciation 4,335 4,202 4,213

Interest 19 14 29

Total Expenditure 50,674 52,887 52,792

Surplus/(Deficit) before Abnormal Items 117 (1,529) 1,610

Separately disclosed items 240 871 (28)

Surplus/(Deficit) (123) (2,400) 1,638

Prospective information is provided using estimates and assumptions about future economic, environmental, and regulatory conditions in which 
we will operate. The key assumption relates to the level of government funding to be received as outlined in our 2019-2021 Investment Plan. Actual 
outcomes may vary from those forecast due to differences in the conditions that eventuate.

COST OF SERVICES
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2020 2021 2021 TARGET
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In 2021, the call of the wild went out to young people, 
tangata whenua, and those affected by COVID-19, with 
UCOL and Pūkaha National Wildlife Centre delivering new 
training for protecting and conserving our native taonga.

Te Kura Tapere: Certificate in Introductory Conservation, 
was launched to give locals a perfect opportunity to see 
if a career in the bush was for them. The eight week 
programme was taught on-site at Pūkaha, with their 
experts and UCOL lecturers collaborating together.

The General Manager of Pūkaha, Emily Court said “Our 
phone was already ringing hot, with people looking for us 
to create jobs and training in this sector. This initiative had 
been in development for a year, alongside the creation of 
our education centre – but with the effects of COVID-19 
rippling through our communities, we knew kicking this 
course off sooner rather than later was the right thing to 
do,” she says.

“We’re especially interested in offering opportunities 
to our Māori community and locals who have a strong 
connection to the area. This is a chance to learn about our 
precious wildlife and flora and build a career conserving 
our backyard. Developing a strong connection with the 
whenua is a big part of why we exist as an organisation, 
and we were so excited to see this get started.”

Pūkaha offered two $500 scholarships – one for a student 
with Rangitāne whakapapa, and another for someone who 
was affected by the COVID-19 downturn.

Universal College of Learning

Call of the wild for Future 
Conservationists
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HE PŪRONGO TĀTARI KAUTE 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
To the readers of the Universal 
College of Learning Limited and 
group’s financial statements for the 
period ended 31 December 2021 
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Universal College of 
Learning Limited (the company) and group. The Auditor-
General has appointed me, Stephen Usher, using the staff 
and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit 
of the financial statements of the company and group on 
his behalf. 

We have audited the financial statements of the 
company and group on pages 42 to 96, that comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, 
the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, 
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement 
for the period ended on that date and the notes to the 
financial statements that include accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

Qualified opinion
In our opinion, except for the possible effect of the matters 
described in the Basis for our qualified opinion section of 
our report, the financial statements of the company and 
group on pages 42 to 96, which have been prepared on a 
disestablishment basis:

• present fairly, in all material respects:

 o the financial position as at 31 December 2021; and

 o the financial performance and cash flows for the 
period then ended; and

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity 
Reporting Standards.

Our audit was completed on 2 May 2022. This is the date 
at which our qualified opinion is expressed.

The basis for our qualified opinion is explained below 
and we draw attention to the financial statements being 
prepared on a disestablishment basis. In addition, we 
outline the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and 
our responsibilities relating to the financial statements, 
we comment on other information, and we explain our 
independence.
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Basis for our qualified opinion - 
Comparative year’s carrying value of 
building assets
We issued a qualified opinion on the company’s 31 
December 2020 financial statements, which are presented 
as comparative information, because our work was 
limited in respect of the carrying value of building 
assets of $63.8 million as at 31 December 2020. The 
company measures its building assets at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. As at 31 
December 2020, the company had identified that the 
Manawatu and Whanganui Campus buildings required 
seismic remediation to meet earthquake service and 
function requirements. The level of remediation work 
and associated costs were not known at the time but 
were estimated as substantial. The carrying value was 
not altered to reflect this remediation work and we were 
unable to determine if the carrying value of buildings at 31 
December 2020 was materially different to their fair value.

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the company has:

• completed some seismic remediation work;

• performed detailed seismic assessments on all 
relevant buildings structures;

• estimated the cost of seismic strengthening work on 
structures assessed as below 34% of New Building 
Standards; and

• revalued the assets based on advice of an independent 
valuer, which includes a deduction that the company 
has estimated for the cost of seismic strengthening 
work. 

We have concluded the approach taken by the company 
in the current year meets the requirements of generally 
accepted accounting practice and our opinion on the 
carrying value of building assets at 31 December 2021 is 
not modified. However, any misstatement of the building 
carrying value at 31 December 2020 would consequentially 

affect the fair value movement on buildings of $14.4m 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive revenue 
and expense for the 31 December 2021 year. As a result, 
we are unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence that this 
fair value movement recognised in the current year is 
materially correct. 

Without further modifying our opinion, we draw attention 
to the disclosures in Note 8 on pages 67 to 68 that outlines 
the main assumptions and uncertainties in estimating the 
seismic strengthening cost deduction to the depreciated 
replacement cost value of the company’s earthquake-
prone buildings. Additionally, the company’s valuer has 
highlighted that less certainty exists than normal and 
a higher degree of caution should be attached to the 
valuation of the company’s earthquake-prone buildings. 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 
Professional and Ethical Standards and the International 
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the 
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of 
our report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with 
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
qualified opinion.
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Emphasis of matter - The financial 
statements have been prepared on a 
disestablishment basis
Without further modifying our opinion, we draw attention 
to Basis of preparation disclosure on page 42, which 
outlines that under the Education and Training Act 
2020, the company will cease to exist by the close of 31 
December 2022. The company therefore prepared its 
financial statements on a disestablishment basis. There 
have been no changes to the values of assets and liabilities 
as the operations of the company will be transferred to  
Te Pūkenga or one of its subsidiaries at their carrying 
value.

Responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors for the financial statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible on behalf of the 
company and group for preparing financial statements 
that are fairly presented and that comply with generally 
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

The Board of Directors is responsible for such internal 
control as it determines is necessary to enable it to 
prepare financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of 
Directors is responsible on behalf of the company and 
group for assessing the company and group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If the Board of Directors 
concludes that a going concern basis of accounting is 
inappropriate, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
preparing financial statements on a disestablishment basis 
and making appropriate disclosures.

The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the 
Education and Training Act 2020 and the Crown Entities 
Act 2004.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements, as a whole, are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance 
with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts 
or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. 
Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

For the budget information reported in the financial 
statements, our procedures were limited to checking 
that the information agreed to the company and group’s 
approved budget.

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the 
electronic publication of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. Also:

• We identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.



UCOL Annual Report 2021  |   40

• We obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the company and group’s internal 
control.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 
of Directors.

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of 
disestablishment basis by the Board of Directors. 

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial statements of the entities or 
business activities within the group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included on the 2 pages immediately before 
page 1, pages 1 to 36 and 97 to 98, but does not include 
the financial statements, and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of audit 
opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on our work, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the company and group in 
accordance with the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate 
the independence requirements of Professional and 
Ethical Standard 1 International Code of Ethics for 
Assurance Practitioners issued by the New Zealand 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or 
interests in the company or any of its subsidiaries.

 
Stephen Usher 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2021
We are responsible for the preparation of Universal College of Learning Limited’s financial statements and for the 
judgements made in them.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance 
as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting. 

In our opinion, these financial statements and statement of service performance fairly reflect the financial position and 
operations of UCOL and group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

 
Verne Atmore 
Board Chair

Signed by:

 
Dr Linda Sissons 
Chief Executive

 
Barry Jordan 
Chair Audit & Risk Committee

2 May 2022

HE KŌRERO TATAU THE NUMBERS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. Statement of Accounting Policies
Reporting entity
UCOL is a Tertiary Education Institution (TEI) that is 
domiciled and operates in New Zealand. UCOL came 
into existence on 1 April 2020. The relevant legislation 
governing operations includes the Crown Entities Act 2004 
and the Education and Training Act 2020.

The financial statements are presented on a consolidated 
group basis. The group consists of UCOL (‘the parent’), 
UCOL Holdings Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary) 
disestablished 23/12/21, UCOL International Limited 
(a wholly owned subsidiary of UCOL Holdings Limited) 
disestablished 23/12/21, UCOL Developments Limited 
(a wholly owned subsidiary of UCOL Holdings Limited) 
disestablished 23/12/21, UCOL School of International 
Cuisine Studies Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary 
of UCOL Holdings Limited) and Minerva International 
Education Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary). UCOL 
School of International Cuisine Studies Limited and 
Minerva International Education Limited are in the process 
of being liquidated.

These financial statements incorporate a 16.67% equity 
share of TANZ eCampus Limited, which is an associate. 
On 1 December 2021, TANZ eCampus Limited became a 
business division of the Open Polytechnic of New Zealand 
Limited. Consequently, UCOL’s equity share of the entity 
ceased on 30 November 2021. The financial statements 
have been prepared to reflect this.

UCOL and the group provides educational and research 
services for the benefit of the community. It does not 
operate to make a financial return.

UCOL has designated itself and the group as public 
benefit entities (PBE’s) for the purposes of complying with 
generally accepted accounting practice.

The financial statements of UCOL and the group are for 
the period ended 31 December 2021, and were authorised 
for issue by the Board on 28 April 2022.

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a 
disestablishment basis, as the Education and Training 
Act 2020 (the Act) states that each Te Pūkenga subsidiary 
continues in existence until the close of 31 December 
2022, at which point all the rights, assets, and liabilities of 
the Te Pūkenga subsidiary will be transferred to  
Te Pūkenga. 

The Act allows Te Pūkenga to dissolve UCOL before  
31 December 2022 and transfer some or all the rights, 
assets, and liabilities to Te Pūkenga or another Te Pūkenga 
subsidiary.

As the company will cease to exist by the close of  
31 December 2022, the financial statements have been 
prepared on a disestablishment basis.

Because the vocational education will continue to be 
provided after the transfer, no changes were made to the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities as a result of the 
disestablishment basis of accounting.

Reporting period 
UCOL came into existence on 1 April 2020. Therefore, 
the reporting period for the 2020 comparatives is for the 
nine months from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2020. The 
reporting period for the Actuals for 2021 and Budget 2021 
is for the twelve months 1 January 2021 to 31 December 
2021.

Reporting measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on a consolidated basis except for the following items, 
which are measured on an alternative basis on each 
reporting date.

Item Measurement

Land Fair value

Buildings and Infrastructure Fair value 
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Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of UCOL and the group have 
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Education and Training 
Act 2020, which include the requirement to comply with 
generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand (NZ 
GAAP).

UCOL is a Tier 1 entity and the financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with PBE Standards. These 
financial statements comply with PBE Standards.

Presentation currency and rounding 
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values, other than the Board member 
remuneration disclosures and the related party 
transaction disclosures in Note 23, are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars ($000). Board member 
remuneration and related party transaction disclosures 
are rounded to the nearest dollar.

Standards issued and adopted early
Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective 
that have been early adopted and which are relevant to 
UCOL are:

UCOL early adopted PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. This new standard 
is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2022, however UCOL has elected to early adopt the 
standard. PBE IPSAS 41 establishes requirements for the 
recognition and measurement of financial instruments 
by Tier 1 and Tier 2 public benefit entities. This standard 
replaces PBE IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. 

As a result of the adoption of PBE IPSAS 41, UCOL has 
adopted consequential amendments to PBE IPSAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements, which require 
expected credit losses of financial assets to be presented 
in a separate line item in the statement of comprehensive 
revenue and expense. Consequently, UCOL reclassified 
expected credit losses amounting from $98,000 recognised 
under PBE IPSAS 29, to $152,000 to expected credit 
loss on receivables in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense for the year ended 
31 December 2021. 

Additionally, UCOL has adopted consequential 
amendments to PBE IPSAS 30 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures. Classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities PBE IPSAS 41 contains three 
principal classification categories for financial assets: 
measured at amortised costs, fair value through other 
comprehensive revenue and expense (FVOCRE) and fair 
value through surplus or deficit (FVTSD). The classification 
of financial assets under PBE IPSAS 41 is based on the 
business model in which a financial asset is managed and 
its contractual cash flow characteristics. PBE IPSAS 41 
eliminates the previous PBE IPSAS 29 categories of held to 
maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale.

PBE IPSAS 41 largely retains the existing requirements 
in PBE IPSAS 29 for classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities. The adoption of PBE IPSAS 41 has not 
had a significant effect on UCOL’s accounting policies 
related to financial liabilities and derivative financial 
instruments. 

The effect of adopting PBE IPSAS 41 on the carrying 
amounts of financial assets as at 1 January 2021 relates 
solely to the new impairment requirements.

PBE IPSAS 41 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in PBE 
IPSAS 29 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. 
The new impairment model applies to financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. 

The Group has determined that the application of PBE 
IPSAS 41’s impairment requirements at 1 January 2021 
results in an additional allowance of impairment as 
follows:

Loss allowance at 31 December 2020 under 
PBE IPSAS 29

$98,000

Loans to subsidiaries -

Opening loss allowance at 1 January 2021 
under PBE IPSAS 41

$98,000

Student debt losses $54,000

Transition 
UCOL has used an exemption not to restate comparative 
information for prior periods with respect to classification 
and measurement (including impairment requirements). 
Differences in carrying amounts of financial assets 
and liabilities resulting from adoption of PBE IPSAS 41 
are recognised in general funds as at 1 January 2021. 
Accordingly the information presented for 2020 does not 
generally reflect the requirements of PBE IPSAS 41, but 
rather those of PBE IPSAS 29. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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Standards issued and not yet effective and not early 
adopted 
PBE IFRS 48 Service Performance Reporting: PBE IFRS 48 
replaces the service performance reporting requirements 
of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. UCOL has not yet 
determined how application of PBE IFRS 48 will affect its 
statement of service performance.

PBE IPSAS 13 Accounting for Leases: PBE IPSAS 13 
Accounting for Leases is effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with early adoption 
permitted in the financial year starting 1 January 2020. 
UCOL has chosen not to early adopt this standard and 
intends to adopt the standard for the 31 December 2022 
financial year. UCOL has not yet assessed the impact of the 
new standard.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to 
which they relate. Significant accounting policies that do 
not relate to a specific note are outlined below:

Budget figures 
The budget figures for UCOL and the group have been 
derived from the budget approved by the UCOL Board 
at the end of 2020. Those budget figures have been 
prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting 
policies that are consistent with those adopted by the 
Board in preparing these financial statements. The budget 
approved was for the full 1 January 2021 to 31 December 
2021 year.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
In preparing these financial statements, estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future have been made. 
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the 
subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectation of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below:

Crown Owned Land and Buildings
Property in the legal name of the Crown that is occupied 
by UCOL is recognised as an asset in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 

UCOL considers it has assumed all the normal risks 
and rewards of ownership of this property despite legal 
ownership not being transferred, and accordingly it would 
be misleading to exclude these assets from the financial 
statements.

UCOL has secured the use of the property by means of 
a lease from the Ministry of Education for a period of 99 
years from 1 February 1998, at a nominal rental of $1 per 
annum.

Employee entitlements 
Entitlements, which are payable beyond twelve months are 
calculated on an actuarial basis. The calculations are based 
on the likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based 
on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood 
that staff will reach the point of entitlement (being the 
probability rate) and contractual entitlements information; 
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 
Discount rates of 2.24% (2020 0.51% were applied in the 
actuarial calculations for the nine month reporting period 
for 2020) and inflation factors of 3.5% (3.5% was applied 
in the actuarial calculations for the nine month reporting 
period for 2020). 

Goods and services tax
Items in the financial statements are stated exclusive 
of GST, (except for receivables and payables, which are 
presented on a GST-inclusive basis). Where GST is not 
recoverable as input tax then it is recognised as part of 
the related asset or expense. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, 
including the GST relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as a net operating cash flow in the 
Statement of Cash Flows. Commitments and contingencies 
are disclosed exclusive of GST.

Income tax 
UCOL and the group are exempt from Income Tax. 
Accordingly, no provision has been made for Income Tax.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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2. Revenue
Accounting Policy
Revenue is measured at fair value. The specific accounting 
policies for significant revenue items are explained below:

Student Achievement Component funding – SAC funding 
– 31 December 2021 year
Student Achievement Component (SAC) funding is the 
main source of operational funding for UCOL from  
Te Pūkenga.

UCOL considers SAC funding to be non-exchange and 
recognises SAC funding as revenue when the course 
withdrawal date has passed, based on the number of 
eligible students enrolled in the course at that date and 
the value of the course. This is adjusted for any expected 
adjustments as part of the final wash-up process with  
Te Pūkenga.

SAC and fees-free funding – 31 December 2020 
comparative year 
In the 31 December 2020 comparative year SAC funding 
was provided directly by TEC. In March 2020 in response 
to Covid-19 TEC confirmed that it would not seek 
repayment of 2020 SAC and fees-free funding if there 
was any underdelivery. Therefore, the predecessor 
entity recognised the 2020 funding in full as revenue 
in the period ended 31 March 2020. There is no such 
arrangement in place for 2021 funding.

Tuition fees
Domestic student tuition fees are subsidised by 
Government funding and are considered non-exchange. 
Revenue is recognised when the course withdrawal date 
has passed, which is when a student is no longer entitled 
to a refund for withdrawing from the course.

International student tuition fees are accounted for as 
exchange transactions and recognised as revenue on a 
course percentage of completion basis. The percentage 
of completion is measured by reference to the days of the 
course completed as a proportion of the total course days.

Fees-free revenue 
UCOL considers fees-free revenue is non- exchange 
revenue and recognises revenue when the course 
withdrawal date for an eligible student has passed. UCOL 
has presented funding received for fees-free as part of 
tuition fees. This is on the basis that receipts from  
Te Pūkenga are for payment on behalf of the student as 
specified in the relevant funding mechanism.

Performance-based research fund
UCOL considers funding received from Performance-
Based Research Fund (PBRF) to be non-exchange in 
nature. PBRF funding is measured based on the funding 
entitlement allocated by Te Pūkenga adjusted for any 
expected adjustments as part of the final wash-up process. 
Indicative funding for future periods is not recognised until 
confirmed for that future period.

Research revenue 
For an exchange research contract, revenue is recognised 
on a percentage completion basis. The percentage 
of completion is measured by reference to the actual 
research expenditure incurred as a proportion to total 
expenditure expected to be incurred.

For a non-exchange research contract, the total funding 
receivable under the contract is recognised as revenue 
immediately, unless there are substantive conditions in the 
contract.

If there are substantive conditions, revenue is recognised 
when the conditions are satisfied. A condition could 
include the requirement to complete research to the 
satisfaction of the funder to retain funding or return 
unspent funds. Revenue for future periods is not 
recognised where the contract contains substantive 
termination provisions for failure to comply with the 
requirements of the contract. Conditions and termination 
provisions need to be substantive, which is assessed 
by considering factors such as contract monitoring 
mechanisms of the funder and the past practice of the 
funder.

Other grants received 
Other grants are recognised as revenue when they 
become receivable unless there is an obligation in 
substance to return the funds if conditions of the grant 
are not met. If there is such an obligation, the grants are 
initially recorded as grants received in advance and then 
recognised as revenue when the conditions of the grant 
are satisfied.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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Donations, trust funds, endowments, bequests, and 
pledges 
Donations, trust funds, endowments, and bequests for the 
benefit of UCOL are recognised as an asset and revenue 
when the right to receive the funding or asset has been 
established, unless there is an obligation in substance to 
return the funds if conditions are not met.

If there is such an obligation, they are initially recorded as 
revenue in advance and then recognised as revenue when 
the conditions are satisfied. Pledges are not recognised as 
assets or revenue until the pledged item is received.

Sales of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the 
product is sold to the customer.

Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised by accruing on a time 
proportion basis the interest due for the investment. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue

Government funding 2 30,576 31,413 1,803 30,576 1,803

Tuition fees and departmental revenue2 2 18,251 17,238 5,552 18,251 5,552

Other revenue2,3 2 2,531 1,535 3,449 2,531 3,449

Total Revenue 51,358 50,186 10,804 51,358 10,804

Expenditure

Employee expenses4 3 33,796 31,782 25,036 33,796 25,036

Depreciation expense 8 3,483 4,135 2,851 3,483 2,851

Amortisation expense 9 715 412 593 715 593

Finance Costs 3 14 15 14 14 14

Administration and other expenses4 3 14,879 14,837 10,604 14,491 10,604

Total Operating Expenses 52,887 51,181 39,098 52,499 39,098

Surplus/(deficit) before share of associate entity and 
Separately Disclosed Items*

(1,529) (995) (28,294) (1,141) (28,294)

Separately Disclosed Items 466 130 2,285 998 2,285

Total Expenditure 53,353 51,311 41,383 53,497 41,383

Surplus/(deficit) before share of associate entity (1,995) (1,125) (30,579) (2,139) (30,579)

Share of associate entity (405) 152 65 (405) 65

Surplus/(deficit) (2,400) (973) (30,514) (2,544) (30,514)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense

Items that will not be reclassified to surplus/(deficit)

Revaluation of land and buildings 18 14,357 - - 14,357 -

Distribution to the Crown5 18 (762) - - (762) -

Total items that will not be reclassified to surplus/(deficit) 13,595 - 146 13,595 146

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense 13,595 - 146 13,595 146

Total comprehensive revenue and expense 11,195 (973) (30,368) 11,051 (30,368)

*Operating surplus/(deficit)  
Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 19. 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

1. Where there have been changes in presentation in 2021 the affected 2020 comparative has been restated so that it is prepared on the 
same basis as 2021

2. 2020 items previously disclosed as student tuition fees amounting to $697,000 have been reclassified as other revenue. Refer to the 
notes to the accounts for further detail

3. 2020 interest received previously separately disclosed amounting to $47,000 has been reclassified as other revenue. Refer to the notes 
to the accounts for further detail

4. 2020 items previously disclosed as materials and operations amounting to $1,185,000 have been reclassified as employee expenses. 
Refer to the notes to the accounts for further detail

5. This relates to TANZ eCampus Limited who became a business division of the Open Polytechnic of New Zealand Limited on 1 December 
2021
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2021 2020 2021 2020

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 6,837 8,030 6,537 6,292 5,935

Student fees and other receivables 5 11,791 8,071 12,125 12,336 12,125

Prepayments 841 841 877 837 873

Inventory 6 679 679 409 679 409

Assets held for sale 7 2,050 - 3,335 2,050 3,335

Other financial assets 16 - - - - -

Total current assets 22,198 17,621 23,283 22,194 22,677

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 112,039 103,626 100,183 112,039 99,538

Intangible assets 9 1,362 2,872 1,722 1,362 1,722

Assets under construction - property, plant and equipment 8 4,166 1,819 2,063 4,166 2,063

Assets under construction - intangibles 9 255 - 132 255 132

Investment in other entities 10 - 1,432 1,167 100 1,167

Term receivables 5 - - - - 1,446

Other financial assets - non-current 16 - - - - -

Total non-current assets 117,822 109,749 105,267 117,922 106,068

TOTAL ASSETS 140,020 127,370 128,550 140,116 128,745

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 6,867 3,707 4,313 6,864 4,308

Employee entitlements 12 3,315 3,093 3,503 3,315 3,503

Revenue received in advance 13 9,155 10,303 10,765 9,155 10,765

Borrowings 14 3,557 3,557 3,557 3,557 3,557

Finance leases 15 500 292 514 500 514

Total current liabilities 23,394 20,952 22,652 23,391 22,647

Non-current liabilities

Employee entitlements 12 510 510 588 510 588

Finance leases 15 479 394 873 479 873

Total non-current liabilities 989 904 1,461 989 1,461

TOTAL LIABILITIES 24,383 21,856 24,113 24,380 24,108

NET ASSETS 115,637 105,514 104,437 115,736 104,637

EQUITY

General funds 18 88,050 95,775 88,701 88,199 88,951

Property revaluation reserve 18 27,587 9,739 15,736 27,537 15,686

TOTAL EQUITY 115,637 105,514 104,437 115,736 104,637

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 19. 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

For and on behalf of the Board, who authorise the issue of these financial statements on 2 May 2022. 

Signed by:

 
Verne Atmore 
Board Chair

2 May 2022

 
Barry Jordan 
Director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2021 2020 2021 2020

Opening balance 104,437 106,487 134,951 104,637 135,151

Surplus/(deficit) 18 (2,400) (973) (30,514) (2,544) (30,514)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense

Actual comprehensive revenue 18 14,357 - 146 14,357 146

Distribution to the Crown6 18 (762) - - (762) -

Total comprehensive revenue and expense 11,195 (973) (30,368) 11,051 (30,368)

Non comprehensive revenue and expense items 

Other contributions from the Crown7 5 - - 48 -

Suspensory loans from the Crown - - - - -

Other non-comprehensive revenue and expense - - (146) - (146)

Total non-comprehensive revenue 5 - (146) 48 (146)

Balance as at 31 December 115,637 105,514 104,437 115,736 104,637

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 19

6.  This relates to TANZ eCampus Limited who became a business division of the Open Polytechnic of New Zealand Limited on 1 December 
2021

7.  This relates to a property transfer from a wholly owned subsidiary

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2021 2020 2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from Government grants8 32,621 31,413 23,346 32,621 23,346

Receipts from student fees8 14,948 18,723 2,306 14,948 2,306

Receipt of dividends - - - - -

Receipt of interest 8 50 63 8 63

Receipt of other revenue 3,138 - 2,804 3,138 2,804

Goods and services tax (net) 45 (29) 925 45 925

Payments to employees8 (33,469) (29,371) (24,511) (33,469) (24,511)

Payments to suppliers8 (15,871) (17,125) (11,181) (15,871) (11,181)

Interest paid (14) - (14) (14) (14)

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,406 3,661 (6,262) 1,406 (6,262)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 4,840 4,000 260 4,840 260

Proceeds from sale or maturity of investments - - 3,500 - 3,500

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,549) (3,734) (3,247) (5,549) (3,269)

Purchase of investments - - - - -

Purchase of intangible assets (397) (1,607) (222) (397) (199)

Net cash flow used in investing activities (1,106) (1,341) 291 (1,106) 292

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings - - - 57 -

Proceeds from capital contributions from the Crown - - - - -

Proceeds from suspensory loans from the Crown - - - - -

Repayment of borrowings - - - - -

Distributions to the Crown - - - - -

Repayment of finance leases - - - - -

Proceeds/Distributions from other financial activities - - - - -

Net cash flows from financing activities - - - 57 -

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 300 2,320 (5,971) 357 (5,970)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 6,537 5,710 12,508 5,935 11,905

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4 6,837 8,030 6,537 6,292 5,935

8. Where there have been changes in presentation in 2021 the affected 2020 comparative has been restated so that it is prepared on the 
same basis as 2021. 2020 items previously disclosed as receipts from Government grants amounting to $396,000 have been reclassified 
as receipts from student fees. 2020 items previously disclosed as payments to suppliers amounting to $1,185,000 have been reclassified 
as payments to employees

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 19 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Surplus/(deficit) (2,400) (30,514) (2,544) (30,514)

Add/(less) non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8, 9 4,198 3,444 4,198 3,444

Bad debt provision movement 3 54 - (334) -

Other losses/(gains) 408 (65) 408 (65)

Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities

Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (732) (398) (732) (398)

Impairment - 2,070 - 2,070

Notional interest - - - -

Add/(less) movements in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and other receivables (524) 16,887 82 16,887

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (269) - (269) -

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 36 (52) 36 (52)

(Increase)/decrease in other financial assets - - - -

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (266) (74) (266) (74)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 2,515 1,567 2,441 1,567

Increase/(decrease) in provisions - - - -

Increase/(decrease) in fees in advance (1,614) 873 (1,614) 873

Increase/(decrease) in trust and endowments - - - -

Net cash from operating activities 1,406 (6,262) 1,406 (6,262)

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 19. 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

RECONCILATION FROM NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Government funding classified as non-exchange transactions

Student disability grant 76 58 76 58

Literacy funding - - - -

Youth guarantee funding 1,050 1,069 1,050 1,069

Other Government grants - - - -

Māori and Pacific Islands grant 98 73 98 73

Student Achievement Component (SAC) funding 25,366 - 25,366 -

Performance based research funding 185 139 185 139

Other Government funding 3,801 464 3,801 464

Total Government funding classified as non-exchange transactions 30,576 1,803 30,576 1,803

Tuition fees and departmental revenue classified as exchange 
transactions

Tuition fees - international students9 2,191 2680 2,191 2680

Departmental revenue (non base revenue and recoveries) 3,006 195 3,006 195

Other tuition fees classed as exchange transactions - - - -

Total tuition fees and departmental revenue classified as exchange 
transactions

5,197 2,875 5,197 2,875

Tuition fees and departmental revenue classified as non-exchange 
transactions

Tuition fees - domestic students9 7,676 2,281 7,676 2,281

Departmental revenue (non base revenue and recoveries) - - - -

Fees free funding 3,060 (310) 3,060 (310)

Targeted training and apprenticeship funding (TTAF) 2,318 706 2,318 706

Total tuition fees and departmental revenue classified as non-exchange 
transactions

13,054 2,677 13,054 2,677

Total tuition fees and departmental revenue 18,251 5,552 18,251 5,552

9. Where there have been changes in presentation in 2021 the affected 2020 comparative has been restated so that it is prepared on the 
same basis as 2021. 2020 items previously disclosed as student tuition fees amounting to $697,000 have been reclassified as other 
revenue

2. Revenue (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Other revenue classified as exchange transactions

Other revenue 577 2,104 577 2,104

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 767 407 767 407

Interest revenue10 8 47 8 47

Student service fees10 1,179 891 1,179 891

Total other revenue classified as exchange transactions 2,531 3,449 2,531 3,449

Other revenue classified as non-exchange transactions

Other revenue - - - -

Total other revenue classified as non-exchange transactions

Total other revenue 2,531 3,449 2,531 3,449

Total revenue 51,358 10,804 51,358 10,804

Revenue classification

Exchange revenue 7,728 6,324 7,728 6,324

Non-exchange revenue 43,630 4,480 43,630 4,480

Total revenue 51,358 10,804 51,358 10,804

10. Where there have been changes in presentation in 2021 the affected 2020 comparative has been restated so that it is prepared on the 
same basis as 2021. 2020 items previously disclosed as student tuition fees amounting to $697,000 have been reclassified as other 
revenue. 2020 interest received amounting to $47,000 has been included in other revenue category
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Employee expenses

Wages and salaries 31,201 23,173 31,201 23,173

Defined contribution plan employer contributions 852 614 852 614

Councillors and board fees 23 155 114 155 114

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefit liabilities (266) (74) (266) (74)

Other employee expenses11 1,796 1,182 1,796 1,182

Restructuring expenses 58 27 58 27

Total employee benefits expense 33,796 25,036 33,796 25,036

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Depreciation 8 3,483 2,851 3,483 2,851

Amortisation 9 715 593 715 593

Total depreciation and amortisation 4,198 3,444 4,198 3,444

Finance costs

Finance costs 14 14 14 14

Total finance costs 14 14 14 14

Administration and other expenditure

Auditors' remuneration

Fees to Audit New Zealand for the audit of financial statements 131 135 131 135

Total auditors' remuneration 131 135 131 135

11. Where there have been changes in presentation in 2021 the affected 2020 comparative has been restated so that it is prepared on the 
same basis as 2021. 2020 items previously disclosed as materials and operations amounting to $1,185,000 have been reclassified as 
employee expenses

3. Expenditure
Accounting Policy
Scholarships 
Scholarships awarded by UCOL that reduce the amount of tuition fees payable by the student are accounted for as an 
expense and not offset against student tuition fees revenue.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

General costs

Administrative, materials and consumables expenses 3,502 2,626 3,501 2,626

Bad and doubtful debts - written off 5 132 84 133 84

Course delivery expenses 4,197 3,190 4,197 3,190

Donations and koha 18 15 18 15

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 35 9 35 9

Loss on revaluation of investment property 13 - - - -

Marketing expenses 784 535 784 535

Minor assets 91 69 91 69

Net increase/(decrease) bad and doubtful debts provision 5 54 2 (334) 2

Occupancy expenses 3,504 2,451 3,504 2,451

Operating expenses related to investment property - - - -

Operating lease payments 290 183 290 183

Other expenditure 471 286 471 286

Professional services 866 777 866 777

Research & development expense 2 5 2 5

Scholarships 802 237 802 237

Total general costs12 14,748 10,469 14,360 10,469

Total other expenditure 14,879 10,604 14,491 10,604

Total operating expenditure 52,887 39,098 52,499 39,098

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Separately Disclosed Items

Integration and development - other expenses 147 136 147 136

Legislation compliance - other expenses 3 16 3 16

Legislation compliance - wages and salaries - 15 - 15

Reform of Vocational Education 13 - 13 -

Change management costs - other expenses 21 7 21 7

Change management costs - wages and salaries 262 - 262 -

COVID-19 costs - other expenses 20 41 20 41

Subsidiary - debt forgiven 5 - - 532 -

De-recognition of Buildings - 2,070 - 2,070

Total general costs 466 2,285 998 2,285

Total expenditure 53,353 41,383 53,497 41,383

12. Where there have been changes in presentation in 2021 the affected 2020 comparative has been restated so that it is prepared on the 
same basis as 2021. 2020 items previously disclosed as materials and operations amounting to $1,185,000 have been reclassified as 
employee expenses
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Integration and development - other expenses
Integration costs incorporate the operational costs associated with the consolidation of tertiary education delivery in 
Whanganui from seven campuses to two principal sites. Development costs incorporate the transitional operating costs 
directly associated with the development of an innovative and cross-sector collaborative approach to educational delivery 
and shared services model for tertiary students in Whanganui.

Legislation compliance

Legislation compliance costs recognises the estimated value of historic under-payment of leave (refer note 12)

Reform of Vocational Education

Matters related to the reform of vocational education

Change management costs

Change management costs were incurred in making adjustments to UCOL’s organisational structure

COVID-19 costs

Matters related to COVID-19 response

Subsidiary - debt forgiven

Matters related to the liquidation of inactive UCOL subsidiaries

De-recognition of Buildings

De-recognition of buildings relating to a surplus Whanganui property subject to an unconditional sale and purchase 
agreement as at the 31 December 2020

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Cash at bank and on hand 6,837 6,537 6,292 5,935

Call deposits - - - -

Term deposits with maturities of 3 months or less at acquisition - - - -

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,837 6,537 6,292 5,935

Weighted average effective interest rate 2.06% 2.07% 2.06% 2.07%

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounting Policy
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash at bank and on hand earns interest at floating rates 
based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are 
made for varying periods of between one day and three 
months depending on the immediate cash requirements 
of the group, and earn interest at the respective short term 
deposit rates.

The carrying value of cash at bank and short term deposits 
with maturities less than three months approximates their 
fair value.

The total value of cash and cash equivalents that can 
be used only for a specified purpose as outlined in the 
relevant trust deeds is $532,000 (2020 $1,015,000). This 
relates to international student fees received prior to 
enrolment and TEC first year fees-free bulk funding 
received prior to contribution to the payment of student 
fees.

Although cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2021 
are subject to the expected credit loss requirements of PBE 
IPSAS 41, no loss allowance has been recognised because 
the estimated loss allowance for credit losses is trivial.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Student fee receivables

Student fee receivables 7,778 8,943 7,778 8,943

Less: allowance for credit losses (152) (98) (152) (98)

Net student fee receivables 7,626 8,845 7,626 8,845

Other receivables

Other receivables 376 1,117 376 1,117

Less: allowance for credit losses - - - -

Net other receivables 376 1,117 376 1,117

Related party receivables

Related party receivables - - 3,792 5,081

Less: allowance for credit losses - - (3,247) (3,635)

Net related party receivables - - 545 1,446

PBE non-exchange revenue adjustment 1,858 1,375 1,858 1,375

Government funding 1,931 788 1,931 788

Total receivables 11,791 12,125 12,336 13,571

Classification

Receivables classified as exchange transactions 257 458 257 458

Receivables classified as non-exchange transactions 11,534 11,667 12,079 13,113

Total receivables 11,791 12,125 12,336 13,571

Classification of Receivables

Current Portion of Student Fees and Other Receivables 11,791 12,125 12,336 12,125

Non-Current Portion of Student Fees and Other Receivables - - - 1,446

Total Net Receivables 11,791 12,125 12,336 13,571

5. Student Fees and Other Receivables
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 GROUP PARENT
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Student fee receivables

Expected credit loss (%) 0.00% 4.58% 2.78% 24.86% 24.30% 0.00% 4.58% 2.78% 24.86% 24.30%

Gross carrying amount ('000) 7,107 22 32 17 600 7,107 22 32 17 600

Total lifetime expected credit loss ($’000) - 1 1 4 146 - 1 1 4 146

Other receivables

Expected credit loss (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Gross carrying amount ('000) - - - - - - - - - -

Total lifetime expected credit loss ($’000) - - - - - - - - - -

Related party receivables

Expected credit loss (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 85.62%

Gross carrying amount ('000) - - - - - - - - - 3,792

Total lifetime expected credit loss ($’000) - - - - - - - - - 3,247

Total lifetime expected credit loss - 1 1 4 146 - 1 1 4 3,393
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 GROUP PARENT

All in $000s Note Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net

Impairment 
Ageing profile for receivables at year end

Not past due 11,068 - 11,068 11,068 - 11,068

Past due 1 - 30 days 119 (1) 118 119 (1) 118

Past due 30 - 60 days 51 (1) 50 51 (1) 50

Past due 61 - 90 days 23 (4) 19 23 (4) 19

Past due over 90 days 683 (146) 537 4,475 (3,393) 1,082

Total impairment 11,944 (152) 11,792 15,736 (3,399) 12,337

2020 GROUP PARENT

All in $000s Note Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net

Impairment 
Ageing profile for receivables at year end

Not past due 11,566 - 11,566 11,566 - 11,566

Past due 1 - 30 days 87 - 87 87 - 87

Past due 30 - 60 days 29 - 29 29 - 29

Past due 61 - 90 days 38 (14) 24 38 (14) 24

Past due over 90 days 503 (84) 419 5,584 (3,719) 1,865

Total impairment 12,223 (98) 12,125 17,304 (3,733) 13,571

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables

Balance brought forward (98) (103) (3,733) (3,738)

Additional provisions made during the year (240) - (773) -

Provisions adjustments during the year 54 5 442 5

Receivables written-off during the year 132 - 665 -

As at 31 December (152) (98) (3,399) (3,733)

Accounting Policy
Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount 
due, less an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL). 
This allowance is calculated based on lifetime ECL. In 
measuring ECL, short-term receivables have been assessed 
on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk 
characteristics. They have been grouped based on the 
days past due. Short-term receivables are written off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Previous accounting policy for impairment of receivables
For the previous year, the allowance for credit losses was 
based on the incurred credit loss model. An allowance 
for credit losses was recognised only when there was 
objective evidence of impairment that the amount due 
would not be fully collected.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

6. Inventory
Accounting Policy
Inventories are held for distribution or for use in the 
provision of goods and services. The measurement of 
inventories depends on whether the inventories are 
held for commercial or non-commercial (distribution at 
no charge or for a nominal charge) distribution or use. 
Inventories are measured as follows:

• Commercial: measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

• Non-commercial: measured at cost, adjusted for any 
loss of service potential.

7. Assets Held For Sale

Cost is allocated using the first in, first out (FIFO) method, 
which assumes the inventories that were purchased first 
are distributed or used first.

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions 
are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Any 
write-down from cost to net realisable value or for the loss 
of service potential is recognised in surplus or deficit in the 
year of the write-down.

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Building stock 654 407 654 407

Other inventory 25 2 25 2

Total inventory carrying value 679 409 679 409

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Property held for sale 2,050 3,335 2,050 3,335

Total assets held for sale 2,050 3,335 2,050 3,335

Consists of:

Land 1,810 3,335 1,810 3,335

Land improvements 75 - 75 -

Buildings 165 - 165 -

Total assets held for sale 2,050 3,335 2,050 3,335

Less liabilities held for sale - - - -

Total net assets held for sale 2,050 3,335 2,050 3,335

Non-current assets held for sale
A non-current asset is classified as held for sale if its 
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The 
asset is measured at the lower of its carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell. Write-downs of the asset are 

recognised in the surplus or deficit. Any increases in fair 
value (less costs to sell) are recognised in the surplus or 
deficit up to the level of any impairment losses that have 
previously been recognised. A non-current asset is not 
depreciated or amortised while classified as held for sale.



61  |   UCOL Annual Report 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

8. Property, Plant and Equipment
Accounting Policy
Property, plant, and equipment consists of nine asset 
classes: land, buildings, infrastructure, leasehold 
improvements, computer hardware, furniture and 
equipment, motor vehicles, library collection, and 
heritage collections. Land is measured at fair value, and 
buildings and infrastructure are measured at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation. All other asset classes 
are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Revaluation 
Land, buildings, and infrastructure are revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that their carrying amount 
does not differ materially from fair value and at least every 
three years. Revaluation movements are accounted for on 
a class-of-asset basis.

The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other 
comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated 
to an asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class-of-
asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the 
asset revaluation reserve, this balance is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation 
that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in 
the surplus or deficit will be recognised first in the surplus 
or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then 
recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense.

Additions 
The cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment is 
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated with 
the item will flow to UCOL and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Work in progress is recognised at cost 
less impairment and is not depreciated. In most instances, 
an item of property, plant, and equipment is initially 
recognised at its cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, it is recognised at its fair value as at the 
date of acquisition. Costs incurred subsequent to initial 
acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the item will flow to UCOL and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing 
of property, plant, and equipment are recognised in the 
surplus or deficit as they are incurred. Additions over 
$2,000 in value are capitalised. Amounts under this are 
expensed.

Disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are reported net 
in the surplus or deficit. When revalued assets are sold, 
the amounts included in revaluation reserves in respect 
of those assets are transferred to general funds within 
equity.

Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all 
property, plant, and equipment other than land and 
heritage collections, at rates that will write off the cost 
(or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual 
values over their useful lives. Heritage collections are not 
depreciated because they are maintained such that they 
have indefinite or sufficiently long useful lives that any 
depreciation is considered to be negligible. The useful 
lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of 
assets have been estimated as follows:

• Buildings (including components) 25 to 100 years 1% 
to 4%

• Infrastructure 10 to 50 years 2% to 10%
• Leasehold improvements 3 to 10 years 10% to 33.3%
• Computer hardware 5 years 20%
• Furniture and equipment 2 to 13 years 7.7% to 50%
• Motor vehicles 4 years 25%
• Library collection 10 years 10%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter 
of the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
remaining useful lives of the improvements, whichever is 
the shorter.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are reviewed for 
impairment at each balance date and whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount might not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. If an asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
is considered to be impaired and the carrying amount is 
written-down to the recoverable amount. For revalued 
assets, the impairment loss is recognised against the 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that 
results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the 
balance is recognised in the surplus or deficit. For assets 
not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment 
loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. The reversal of 
an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to other 
comprehensive revenue and expense and increases the 
asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset. However, 
to the extent that an impairment loss for that class of 
asset was previously recognised in the surplus or deficit, 
a reversal of an impairment loss is also recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. For assets not carried at a revalued 
amount, the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
in the surplus or deficit.

Value in use for non-cash-generating assets
Non-cash-generating assets are those assets that are 
not held with the primary objective of generating a 
commercial return. For non-cash-generating assets, value 
in use is determined using an approach based on either 
a depreciated replacement cost approach, a restoration 
cost approach, or a service units approach. The most 
appropriate approach used to measure value in use 
depends on the nature of the impairment and availability 
of information.

Value in use for cash-generating assets
Cash-generating assets are those assets that are held with 
the primary objective of generating a commercial return. 
The value in use for cash- generating assets and cash-
generating units is the present value of expected future 
cash flows.

Restrictions on title
Under the Education and Training Act 2020, UCOL is 
required to notify Te Pūkenga who then obtain consent 
from the Secretary for Education to dispose of land and 
buildings. For plant and equipment, there is an asset 
disposal limit formula, which provides a limit up to which 
UCOL may dispose of plant and equipment without 
seeking consent from the Secretary for Education. Detailed 
information on the asset disposal rules can be found on 
the Tertiary Education Commission website. There are also 
various restrictions in the form of historic designations, 
reserve and endowment encumbrances attached to land. 
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Property, plant and equipment

Cost or Fair Value - Brought Forward 24,768 6,288  67,292 832 12,332 3,315 1,313 66 4,862  121,068

Accumulated Depreciation - Brought 
Forward

-  (204) (3,470) (538) (9,333) (2,719) (822) (59) (3,740) (20,885)

Net Carrying Value  
- 1 January 2021

24,768 6,084 63,822 294 2,999 596 491 7 1,122 100,183

Additions - - 1,934 18 769 131 71 - 152 3,075

Acquisitions through Business 
Combinations

- - - - - - - - - -

Reclassifications (1,810) (58) (182) - (157) (35) (287) - - (2,529)

Net Revaluation 4,707 3,125 991 - - - - - - 8,823

Disposals - - - (3) (364) (163) (195) - (8) (733)

Depreciation on Disposals - - - 1 331 163 195 - - 690

Reverse Accumulated Depreciation  
– Reclassification

- - - - 157 35 287 - - 479

Reverse Accumulated Depreciation  
– Revaluation Write Back

- 306 5,228 - - - - - - 5,534

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss - Reclassification

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss - Disposal

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss Expensed

- - - - - - - - - -

Impairment Losses Expensed in P&L - - - - - - - - - -

Impairment Loss (on Revalued Asset) 
Expense to Revaluation Reserve

- - - - - - - - - -

Depreciation - (102) (1,758) (54) (812) (249) (177) (6) (325) (3,483)

Cost or Fair Value 27,665 9,355 70,035 847 12,580 3,248 902 66 5,006 129,704

Accumulated Depreciation - - - (591) (9,657) (2,770) (517) (65) (4,065) (17,665)

Net Carrying Value  
- 31 December 2021

27,665 9,355 70,035 256 2,923 478 385 1 941 112,039

Assets under construction

Opening Value - 1 January 2021 - - 1,799 - 251 13 - - - 2,063

Additions - - 3,553 - 280 68 164 - - 4,065

Expensed - - - - (81) - - - - (81)

Capitalisations - - (1,498) - (320) (63) - - - (1,881)

Closing Value - 31 December 2021 - - 3,853 - 131 18 164 - - 4,166
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2021 PARENT
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Property, plant and equipment

Cost or Fair Value - Brought Forward 24,123 6,288 6,7292 832 12,332 3,315 1,313 66 4,862 121,068

Accumulated Depreciation - Brought 
Forward

- (204) (3,470) (538) (9,333) (2,719) (822) (59) (3,740) (20,885)

Net Carrying Value  
- 1 January 2021

24,123 6,084 63,822 294 2,999 596 491 7 1,122 99,538

Additions - - 1,934 18 769 131 71 - 152 3,075

Acquisitions through Business 
Combinations

645 - - - (157) (35) (287) - - 166

Reclassifications (1,810) (58) (182) - - - - - - (2,050)

Net Revaluation 4,707 3,125 991 - - - - - - 8,823

Disposals - - - (3) (364) (163) (195) - (8) (733)

Depreciation on Disposals - - - 1 331 163 195 - - 690

Reverse Accumulated Depreciation  
– Reclassification

- - - - 157 35 287 - - 479 

Reverse Accumulated Depreciation  
– Revaluation Write Back

- 306 5,228 - - - - - - 5,534 

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss - Reclassification

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss - Disposal

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss Expensed

- - - - - - - - - -

Impairment Losses Expensed in P&L - - - - - - - - - -

Impairment Loss (on Revalued Asset) 
Expense to Revaluation Reserve

- - - - - - - - - -

Depreciation - (102) (1,758) (54) (812) (249) (177) (6) (325) (3,483)

Cost or Fair Value 27,665 9,355 70,035 847 12,580 3,248 902 66 5,006 129,704

Accumulated Depreciation - - - (591) (9,657) (2,770) (517) (65) (4,065) (17,665)

Net Carrying Value  
- 31 December 2021

27,665 9,355 70,035 256 2,923 478 385 1 941 112,039

Assets under construction

Opening Value - 1 January 2021 - - 1,799 - 251 13 - - - 2,063

Additions - - 3,553 - 280 68 164 - - 4,065

Expensed - - - - (81) - - - - (81)

Capitalisations - - (1,498) - (320) (63) - - - (1,881)

Closing Value - 31 December 2021 - - 3,853 - 131 18 164 - - 4,166
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Property, plant and equipment

Cost or Fair Value - Brought Forward 24,768 6,288  67,292 832 12,332 3,315 1,313 66 4,862  121,068

Accumulated Depreciation - Brought 
Forward

-  (204) (3,470) (538) (9,333) (2,719) (822) (59) (3,740) (20,885)

Net Carrying Value - 1 April 2020 28,652 6,152 66,502 343 3,005 591 328 12 1,279 106,864

Additions - 9 734 - 799 219 319 - 80 2,160

Acquisitions through Business 
Combinations

- - - - - - - - - -

Reclassifications (3,335) - - - - - - - - (3,335)

Net Revaluation - - - - - - - - - -

Disposals (550) - (30) - (166) (34) (287) - (2) (1,069)

Depreciation on Disposals - - 5 - 157 34 287 - - 483

Reverse Accumulated Depreciation  
– Reclassification

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Depreciation  
– Revaluation Write Back

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss - Reclassification

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss - Disposal

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss Expensed

- - - - - - - - - -

Impairment Losses Expensed in P&L - - (2,070) - - - - - - (2,070)

Impairment Loss (on Revalued Asset) 
Expense to Revaluation Reserve

- - - - - - - - - -

Depreciation - (77) (1,319) (49) (796) (214) (156) (5) (235) (2,851)

Cost or Fair Value 24,768 6,288 67,292 832 12,332 3,315 1,313 66 4,862 121,068

Accumulated Depreciation - (204) (3,470) (538) (9,333) (2,719) (822) (59) (3,740) (20,885)

Net Carrying Value  
- 31 December 2020

24,768 6,084 63,822 294 2,999 596 491 7 1,122 100,183

Assets under construction

Opening Value - 1 April 2020 - - 1,000 - 211 - - - - 1,211

Additions - - 799 - 53 - - - - 852

Expensed - - - - - - - - - -

Capitalisations - - - - - - - - - -

Closing Value - 31 December 2020 - - 1,799 - 264 - - - - 2,063
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Property, plant and equipment

Cost or Fair Value - Brought Forward 28,008 6,279 68,653 832 11,542 3,096 994 66 4,784 124,254

Accumulated Depreciation - Brought 
Forward

- (127) (2,151) (489) (8,537) (2,505) (666) (54) (3,505) (18,034)

Net Carrying Value - 1 April 2020 28,008 6,152 66,502 343 3,005 591 328 12 1,279 106,220

Additions - 9 734 - 799 219 319 - 80 2,160

Acquisitions through Business 
Combinations

- - - - - - - - - -

Reclassifications (3,335) - - - - - - - - (3,335)

Net Revaluation - - - - - - - - - -

Disposals (550) - (30) - (166) (34) (287) - (2) (1,069)

Depreciation on Disposals - - 5 - 157 34 287 - - 483

Reverse Accumulated Depreciation  
– Reclassification

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Depreciation  
– Revaluation Write Back

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss - Reclassification

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss - Disposal

- - - - - - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment 
Loss Expensed

- - - - - - - - - -

Impairment Losses Expensed in P&L - - (2,070) - - - - - - (2,070)

Impairment Loss (on Revalued Asset) 
Expense to Revaluation Reserve

- - - - - - - - - -

Depreciation - (77) (1,319) (49) (796) (214) (156) (5) (235) (2,851)

Cost or Fair Value 24,123 6,288 67,292 832 12,332 3,315 1,313 66 4,862 120,423

Accumulated Depreciation - (204) (3,470) (538) (9,333) (2,719) (822) (59) (3,740) (20,885)

Net Carrying Value  
- 31 December 2020

24,123 6,084 63,822 294 2,999 596 491 7 1,122 99,538

Assets under construction

Opening Value - 1 April 2020 - - 1,000 - 211 - - - - 1,211

Additions - - 799 - 53 - - - - 852

Expensed - - - - - - - - - -

Capitalisations - - - - - - - - - -

Closing Value - 31 December 2020 - - 1,799 - 264 - - - - 2,063
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Revaluations 
An independent valuation was obtained to determine the 
fair value of land and buildings. Fair value is determined 
by reference to an open market basis, being the amount 
for which the assets could be exchanged between a 
knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing 
seller in an arm’s length transaction at the valuation date 
for land and buildings of a non-educationally specific 
nature. Where buildings have been designed specifically 
for educational purposes they are valued at depreciated 
replacement cost which is considered to reflect fair value 
for such assets.

Depreciated replacement cost is determined using 
a number of significant assumptions. Significant 
assumptions include:

• The replacement asset is based on the replacement 
with modern equivalent assets with adjustments 
where appropriate for obsolescence due to over-
design or surplus capacity.

• The replacement cost is derived from recent 
construction contracts of similar assets, reference 
materials supplied by QV Builder (previously 
Rawlinsons),  and the Valuation firms knowledge of the 
construction market and the type and nature of the 
buildings involved in this process.

 > Major replacement cost changes from the previous 
revaluation, recognises escalating construction 
costs over the past 12 months, driven by labour 
and material shortages along with record levels in 
construction activity/demand. Replacement rates 
for the multi-level buildings at the Manawatū and 
Whanganui Campus are now in the range of $5,500 
to $6,000/m2

• For UCOL’s earthquake-prone buildings that 
are expected to be strengthened, the estimated 
earthquake-strengthening costs of circa $25M as 
provided by UCOL have been deducted off the 
depreciated replacement cost. Further information 
about this adjustment is explained in the “seismic 
assessment” section below. 

• The remaining useful life of assets is determined after 
discussions with UCOL staff and vary depending on the 
nature and style of the assets involved.

• Straight-line depreciation has been applied in 
determining the depreciated replacement cost value of 
the asset.

 > The Valuers Covid-19 summary concludes, that 
the subject region (i.e. Manawatū, Whanganui 
and Wairarapa) commercial property markets 
will remain sound. Currently there is no market 
evidence indicating commercial property value 
decline in these markets. The regional economy 
underpinned by investment revolving around 
farming, education, research institutes, health, 
defence forces establishment, and industrial 
activities.

 > In relation on Valuers Covid-19 summary around 
the impact on UCOL building improvement values. 
They expect limited impact from the pandemic on 
depreciated replacement cost values.

Non-specialised buildings (for example, residential 
buildings) are valued at fair value using market-based 
evidence.

Market rents and capitalisation rates were applied to 
reflect market value. These valuations include adjustments 
for estimated building strengthening costs for earthquake-
prone buildings and the associated lost rental during the 
time to undertake the strengthening work.

Land and buildings were revalued by G Dowse, 
independent registered valuer, of the firm TelferYoung. 
The effective date of the valuation was 31 December 2021, 
and the total consolidated fair value at that date was 
$107,055,000 (parent: $107,055,000).

*31 December 2021

FAIR VALUE OVER
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED

107M*

LAND AND BUILDINGS
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Seismic Assessment 
Following receipt of detailed seismic assessments 
commissioned by UCOL for its Manawatū Campus, 
the Palmerston North City Council advised on the 18 
November 2021 that Blocks 4, 6, 8 and 12 are Earthquake 
Prone Buildings. Since Palmerston North is in a high 
seismic zone and these are priority buildings, UCOL has 
7.5 years to carry out their seismic upgrade work. Seismic 
works are underway at Block 11 and to the stairwells 
for Blocks 4, 6 and 8. Earthquake prone buildings are 
those which are assessed as below 34% of New Building 
Standards (NBS).

Detailed seismic assessments have been completed for 
Whanganui Campus, which have rated Block C at 20% and 
Block E at 25%. Whanganui is in a medium seismic zone. 
The timeframe for strengthening of priority buildings is 
12.5 years.

Concept design options have been undertaken for Block E.

An impairment of $25.5m has been recognised against 
the carrying value of buildings. This reflects the estimated 
costs of remediating buildings that have been assessed as 
earthquake prone.

The estimation of these remediation costs is based on:

• for Palmerston North Blocks 4, 6, 8 and 12 and Block E 
Whanganui detailed seismic assessments and resulting 
seismic strengthening designs were developed by 
structural engineers and costed by quantity surveyors 
from Beca Limited - Structural Engineering. This work 
was completed by Alex James BEng (Hons) CMEngNZ 
who is a Chartered Professional Engineer with over 
12 years’ experience in structural engineering design 
and seismic assessments working in New Zealand, The 
United Kingdom and the Philippines.

• for the retrofit of the stairwells for Block 4, 6 and 
8 a costed construction contract with Maycroft 
Construction Limited 

• for Palmerston North Block 1, 5 and 7 and Block 
C and ex Federal Hotel Whanganui, earthquake 
strengthening costs estimates were provided by the  
Director of Facilities Management at UCOL based on 
his experience and recent costs for similar work. The 
Director of Facilities Management is a registered valuer 
with thirty years’ experience in valuation and property 
asset management, specialising in local and central 
government property. 

The main assumptions and related uncertainties in arriving 
at the costs are:

• Elements of cost included within the estimates are 
based on costs from similar completed projects at a 
point in time. There are a range of potential costs  
and UCOL has selected the higher ended of the range 
to reflect a high degree of uncertainty in the market.

Beca stated New Zealand is currently experiencing 
significant movement in pricing across many sub-trades 
and material suppliers due to the current buoyant local 
and international construction market. There is also a 
significant skilled labour shortage. This is putting pressure 
on resources which is resulting in unpredictable and 
generally escalating pricing.

• No allowance has been made for changes in scope and 
increases costs arising from required design changes 
when detailed tender and contract costings are 
developed as these are not currently known.

• No allowance has been made for the impacts of 
extraordinary global events (such as the current 
COVID-19 outbreak) within the base estimate

• The valuer stated that less certainty exists than normal 
and a higher degree of caution should be attached to 
the valuation of buildings identified as  earthquake 
prone on both the Palmerston North and Whanganui 
Campuses.
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9. Intangible Assets
Accounting Policy
Software acquisition and development
Computer software licenses are capitalised on the 
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software. Costs that are directly associated 
with the development of software for internal use are 
recognised as an intangible asset. Direct costs include 
software development employee costs and relevant 
professional fees. Staff training costs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred. Costs associated with maintaining 
computer software are recognised as an expense when 
incurred.

Course-related software and websites 
Course-related software and website development costs 
are classified as software and accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policy for software. Capitalised costs 
are tested for impairment and, once available for use, 
amortised in accordance with that policy.

Courses purchased from other organisations 
Separately acquired courses and programmes (including 
trademarks and licences) acquired from outside of UCOL 
group are initially recognised at historical cost. They have 
a finite useful life and, subsequent to initial recognition, 
should be carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses. They are amortised over a period 
not exceeding 5 years.

Internally developed courses 
Course development costs are expensed when incurred 
unless the course development costs are directly 
attributable to the design of identifiable courses and 
programmes controlled by the group in which case they 
are recognised as intangible assets where all of the 
following criteria are met:

a) The course material is identifiable and the use and 
redistribution of course material is controlled by the 
group through legal or other means.

b) It is probable that the courses will generate future 
economic benefits or service potential attributable to 
the course and the cost can be reliably measured. This 
is the case when:

i) It is technically feasible to complete the 
development so that the course or programme will 
be available for use and/or sale;

ii) Management intends to complete the development 
of the course or programme and use or sell it:

iii) There is an ability to use or sell the course or 
programme;

iv) It can be demonstrated how the course or 
programme will generate probable future 
economic benefits or service potential;

v) There are adequate technical, financial and other 
resources available to complete development of 
the course or programme and to use or sell the 
course or programme; and

vi) The expenditure attributable to the course 
or programme development can be reliably 
measured.

Capitalised course development costs related to courses 
that are not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired.

Capitalised course development costs are amortised from 
the point at which the course or programme is ready 
for use and are amortised over a period not exceeding 
5 years. They are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. They are tested 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired. Costs associated with maintaining 
courses and programmes are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.

Intellectual property development 
Research costs are expensed as incurred in the surplus or 
deficit. Development costs that are directly attributable to 
the design, construction, and testing of pre-production or 
pre-use prototypes and models associated with intellectual 
property development are recognised as an intangible 
asset if all the following can be demonstrated:

• It is technically feasible to complete the product so 
that it will be available for use or sale.

• Management intends to complete the product and use 
or sell it.

• There is an ability to use or sell the product.

• It can be demonstrated how the product will generate 
probable future economic benefits.

• Adequate technical, financial, and other resources 
to complete the development and to use or sell the 
product are available.

• The expenditure attributable to the product during its 
development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenses that do not meet these 
criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred in 
the surplus or deficit. Development costs previously 
recognised as an expense cannot be subsequently 
recognised as an asset.
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Amortisation 
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is 
amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life.

Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use 
and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each financial year is recognised in 
the surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of 
major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as 
follows:

• Computer software 3 to 6 years 16.7% to 33.3%.

The useful life of completed projects will be established at 
project completion.

Impairment of intangible assets 
Intangible assets subsequently measured at cost that have 
an indefinite useful life, or are not yet available for use, 
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for 
impairment.

Leased assets 
At the commencement of the lease term, UCOL shall 
recognise assets acquired under finance leases as assets, 
and the associated lease obligations as liabilities in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Although the legal form of 
a lease agreement is that the lessee may acquire no legal 
title to the leased asset, in the case of finance leases the 
substance and financial reality are that the lessee acquires 
the economic benefits or service potential of the use of 
the lease asset for the major part of its economic life in 
return for entering into an obligation to pay for that right, 
an amount approximating, at the inception of the lease, 
the fair value of the asset and the related finance charge. 
A finance lease gives rise to a depreciation expense for 
depreciable assets as well as a finance expense. The 
depreciation policy for depreciable leased assets shall be 
consistent with that for the depreciable assets that are 
owned. If there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee 
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the 
assets shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term or its useful life.
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Intangibles

Cost or Fair Value - Brought Forward 6,786 - - 2,276 9,062

Accumulated Amortisation - Brought Forward (6,440) - - (900) (7,340)

Net Carrying Value - 1 January 2021 346 - - 1,376 1,722

Additions 230 - - 125 355

Acquisitions through Business Combinations - - - - -

Reclassifications - - - - -

Disposals (84) - - (250) (334)

Amortisation on Disposals 84 - - 250 334

Reverse Accumulated Amortisation – Reclassification - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment Loss - Disposal - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment Loss Expensed - - - - -

Impairment Losses Expensed in P&L - - - - -

Amortisation (183) - - (532) (715)

Cost or Fair Value 6,932 - - 2,151 9,083

Accumulated Amortisation (6,539) - - (1,182) (7,721)

Net Carrying Value - 31 December 2021 393 - - 969 1,362

Assets under construction

Opening Value - 1 January 2021 132 - - - 132

Additions 369 - - - 369

Expensed (30) - - - (30)

Capitalisations (216) - - - (216)

Closing Value - 31 December 2021 255 - - - 255
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2021 PARENT

Co
m

pu
te

r 
so

ft
w

ar

Co
ur

se
 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

O
th

er
 in

ta
ng

ib
le

 
as

se
ts

Le
as

e 
as

se
ts

To
ta

l

Intangibles

Cost or Fair Value - Brought Forward 6,786 - - 2,276 9,062

Accumulated Amortisation - Brought Forward (6,440) - - (900) (7,340)

Net Carrying Value - 1 January 2021 346 - - 1,376 1,722

Additions 230 - - 125 355

Acquisitions through Business Combinations - - - - -

Reclassifications - - - - -

Disposals (84) - - (250) (334)

Amortisation on Disposals 84 - - 250 334

Reverse Accumulated Amortisation – Reclassification - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment Loss - Disposal - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment Loss Expensed - - - - -

Impairment Losses Expensed in P&L - - - - -

Amortisation (183) - - (532) (715)

Cost or Fair Value 6,932 - - 2,151 9,083

Accumulated Amortisation (6,539) - - (1,182) (7,721)

Net Carrying Value - 31 December 2021 393 - - 969 1,362

Assets under construction

Opening Value - 1 January 2021 132 - - - 132

Additions 369 - - - 369

Expensed (30) - - - (30)

Capitalisations (216) - - - (216)

Closing Value - 31 December 2021 255 - - - 255
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2020 GROUP
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Intangibles

Cost or Fair Value - Brought Forward 6,660 11 - 1,683 8,354

Accumulated Amortisation - Brought Forward (6,220) - - (538) (6,758)

Net Carrying Value - 1 April 2020 440 11 - 1,145 1,596

Additions 126 - - 592 718

Acquisitions through Business Combinations - - - - -

Reclassifications - - - - -

Disposals - - - - -

Amortisation on Disposals - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Amortisation – Reclassification - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment Loss - Disposal - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment Loss Expensed - - - - -

Impairment Losses Expensed in P&L - - - - -

Amortisation (220) - - (362) (593)

Cost or Fair Value 6,786 - - 2,276 9,073

Accumulated Amortisation (6,440) - - (900) (7,351)

Net Carrying Value - 31 December 2020 346 - - 1,376 1,722

Assets under construction

Opening Value - 1 April 2020 70 49 - - 119

Additions 62 - - - 62

Expensed - (49) - - (49)

Capitalisations - - - - -

Closing Value - 31 December 2020 132 - - - 132
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Intangibles

Cost or Fair Value - Brought Forward 6,660 11 - 1,683 8,354

Accumulated Amortisation - Brought Forward (6,220) - - (538) (6,758)

Net Carrying Value - 1 April 2020 440 11 - 1,145 1,596

Additions 126 - - 592 718

Acquisitions through Business Combinations - - - - -

Reclassifications - - - - -

Disposals - - - - -

Amortisation on Disposals - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Amortisation – Reclassification - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment Loss - Disposal - - - - -

Reverse Accumulated Impairment Loss Expensed - - - - -

Impairment Losses Expensed in P&L - - - - -

Amortisation (220) (11) - (362) (593)

Cost or Fair Value 6,786 11 - 2,276 9,073

Accumulated Amortisation (6,440) (11) - (900) (7,351)

Net Carrying Value - 31 December 2020 346 - - 1,376 1,722

Assets under construction

Opening Value - 1 April 2020 70 49 - - 119

Additions 62 - - - 62

Expensed - (49) - - (49)

Capitalisations - - - - -

Closing Value - 31 December 2020 132 - - - 132
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10. Investment In Other Entities
Accounting Policy
Subsidiaries 
UCOL consolidates in the group financial statements those 
entities it controls. Control exists where UCOL is exposed, 
or has rights to, variable benefits (either financial or 
non-financial) and has the ability to affect the nature and 
amount of those benefits from its power over the entity.

Power can exist over an entity if, by virtue of its purpose 
and design, the relevant activities and the way in which the 
relevant activities of the entity can be directed has been 
predetermined by UCOL.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in UCOL’s 
parent financial statements.

Associate 
An associate is an entity over which UCOL has significant 
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in 
a joint venture. Investments in associates are accounted 
for in the group financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting. Investments in associates are 
measured at cost in the parent financial statements.

Joint venture 
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties 
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement by way of a 
binding arrangement, which exists only when decisions 
about the relevant activities require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control. Investments in 
joint ventures are measured at cost in the parent financial 
statement. Investments in associates and joint ventures 
are accounted for in the group financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment 
is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is 
increased or decreased to recognise the group’s share 
of the change in net assets of the entity after the date of 
acquisition. The group’s share of the surplus or deficit is 
recognised in the group surplus or deficit. Distributions 
received from the investee reduce the carrying amount of 
the investment in the group financial statements.

If the share of deficits of the entity equals or exceeds the 
interest in the entity, the group discontinues recognising 
its share of further deficits. After the group’s interest is 
reduced to zero, additional deficits are provided for, and 
a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the group 
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 

payments on behalf of the entity. If the entity subsequently 
reports surpluses, the group will resume recognising 
its share of those surpluses only after its share of the 
surpluses equals the share of deficits not recognised.

Details of holdings in subsidiaries and associations are 
shown in the table below:

Subsidiary/
Associate/Joint 
venture

Ownership 
%

Balance 
date

Business 
Activity

Minerva 
International 
Education 
Limited

100 31/12/2021 Tertiary 
Vocational 
Education 

Provider

UCOL School of 
International 
Cuisine Studies 
Limited 

100 31/12/2021 Tertiary 
Vocational 
Education 

Provider

TANZ 
e-Campus 
Limited

- 31/12/2021 Tertiary 
Vocational 
Education 

Provider

Breakdown of investment in associates and further 
information
UCOL has a 0% (2020 16.67%) interest in associate, TANZ 
eCampus. UCOL’s significant influence is established 
through its representation on the TANZ eCampus 
Board of Directors, which is equally shared between the 
shareholder Institutes of Technology and Polytechnics 
(ITPs). In addition, it is established through the significant 
transactions of the purchase of services delivered to both 
UCOL and the other shareholding subsidiaries.

TANZ eCampus Limited provides collaborative programme 
development and online delivery platform services for 
tertiary education. On-line learners enrolled at UCOL 
access educational delivery, including specialist on-
line facilitation, through the TANZ eCampus online 
platform. This is a collaboration between six subsidiaries, 
all of whom have an equal shareholding and board 
representation in TANZ eCampus Limited. 

On 1 December 2021, TANZ eCampus Limited became a 
business division of the Open Polytechnic of New Zealand 
Limited. Consequently, UCOL’s equity share of the entity 
ceased on 30 November 2021. The financial statements 
have been prepared to reflect this.
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Financial information relating to TANZ eCampus Limited is provided below:

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

UCOL

Investment in TANZ eCampus Limited (at cost) - 1,093 - 1,093

Group

Dividends or similar distributions received - - - -

Summarised financial information of associate

Current assets - 3,353 - 3,353

Non-current assets - 4,613 - 4,613

Current liabilities - 953 - 953

Non-current liabilities - - - -

Net assets - 7,013 - 7,013

Revenue - 9,003 - 9,003

Tax expense - - - -

Surplus/(deficit) - 108 - 108

Other comprehensive revenue and expense - - - -

Total comprehensive revenue and expense - 108 - 108

Reconciliation to equity accounted carrying amount

Net assets - 7,013 - 7,013

Group's share - - - -

Elimination of unrealised surplus on downstream sale

Equity accounted carrying amount - 1,167 - 1,167

Risk associated with the UCOL’s investment in the associate

Share of contingent liabilities incurred jointly with other investors relating to 
the associate

- - - -
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GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Payables under exchange transactions

Trade payables 5,401 3,010 5,398 3,005

Related party payables - - - -

Other payables 420 303 420 303

Total payables under exchange transactions 5,821 3,313 5,818 3,308

Payables under non-exchange transactions

Other payables - - - -

Related party payables - - - -

Net GST payable/(receivable) 1,046 1,000 1,046 1,000

Total payables under non-exchange transactions 1,046 1,000 1,046 1,000

Total trade and other payables 6,867 4,313 6,864 4,308

11. Trade and Other Payables
Accounting Policy
Short-term payables are recorded at the amount payable. Payables are non- interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-
day terms. Therefore, the carrying value of payables approximates their fair value.

12. Employee Benefit Liabilities
Accounting Policy
Short-term Employee entitlements that are due to be 
settled within 12 months after the end of the year in which 
the employee provides the related service are measured 
based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. 
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance 
date, annual leave earned to - but not yet taken - at 
balance date, and sick leave.

A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses 
where there is a contractual obligation or where there is a 
past practice that has created a constructive obligation and 
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Long-term employee entitlements 
Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 
months after the end of the year in which the employee 
provides the related service, such as long service leave and 
retirement gratuities, have been calculated on an actuarial 
basis. The calculations are based on:

• likely future entitlements accruing to employees, 
based on years of service, years to entitlement, the 
likelihood that employees will reach the point of 
entitlement, and contractual entitlement information; 
and

• the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

Presentation of employee entitlements 
Sick leave and annual leave are classified as a current 
liability. Retirement gratuities expected to be settled within 
12 months of balance date are classified as a current 
liability. All other employee entitlements are classified as a 
non-current liability.

Superannuation schemes 
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government 
Superannuation Fund, and other defined contribution 
superannuation schemes are accounted for as defined 
contribution schemes and are recognised as an expense in 
the surplus or deficit when incurred.
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GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Employee entitlements

Accrued pay 633 474 633 474

Annual leave 2,283 2,695 2,283 2,695

Sick leave 141 124 141 124

Long service leave - - - -

Retirement leave 768 798 768 798

Restructuring provision - - - -

Other employee entitlements - - - -

Total Employee benefit liabilities 3,825 4,091 3,825 4,091

Other payables 3,315 3,503 3,315 3,503

Net GST payable/(receivable) 510 588 510 588

Total Employee benefit liabilities 3,825 4,091 3,825 4,091

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue received in advance

Government grants - - - -

Student fees 9,155 10,765 9,155 10,765

Other revenue received in advance - - - -

Total revenue received in advance 9,155 10,765 9,155 10,765

Current Portion 9,155 10,765 9,155 10,765

Non-Current Portion - - - -

Total Revenue received in advance 9,155 10,765 9,155 10,765

A provision is provided for historic underpayment of leave. The issues generally relate to entitlements under the Holidays 
Act 2003 and how a range of allowances and entitlements have been interpreted and implemented (refer to note 3(f)). 
Underpayments relating to staff currently employed have now been paid. A majority of former staff have now been paid.

Revenue in advance from tuition fees includes both liabilities recognised for domestic student fees received for which the 
course withdrawal date has not yet passed and for international student fees, which is based on the percentage completion 
of the course. Government funding relates to fees free tertiary study funding. This represents bulk upfront funding received 
from TEC which has not been applied to the payment of student fees.

13. Revenue Received In Advance
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GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Borrowings

Current portion 3,557 3,557 3,557 3,557

Non-current portion - - - -

Total 3,557 3,557 3,557 3,557

Weighted average effective interest rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Ministry of Education Capital Injection 
The amounts identified as repayable to the Ministry of 
Education form part of the Ministry of Education Capital 
Injection Agreement of 7 October 1996, Variation No.1 
of 28 September 1998 and Variation No. 2 of 30 June 
2004. Variation No. 1 required UCOL to compensate 
the Crown for retaining certain lands included in the 
New City Campus. As the value of these lands was 
already incorporated into the financial statements the 
compensation is essentially a return of equity. Accordingly 
Equity was reduced by $1,156,600 and the Current Portion 
of Term Liabilities was increased by $1,156,600 to reflect 
this obligation. Variation No. 2 provided for UCOL to return 
land at 165 Grey Street, Palmerston North to the Crown 
and in compensation for the Crown to forgive $2,600,000 
of the repayable Ministry of Education Capital Injection.

14. Borrowings
Accounting Policy
Borrowings on normal commercial terms are initially recognised at the amount borrowed plus transaction costs. Interest 
due on the borrowings is subsequently accrued and added to the borrowings balance. Borrowings are classified as current 
liabilities unless UCOL has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance 
date.

The carrying amount of the Ministry of Education Capital 
Injection is approximate to its fair value because the 
interest rate is 0% and the loan is repayable on demand.

Lender Name Ministry of Education

Facility Description $3,556,600 Capital Injection 
repayable on demand zero % 
interest

Maturity Date of Facility On demand

Date of Ministry of Education 
Consent to Borrow

Not required

Borrowing Paydown as at  
31 December 2021

 $-
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15. Finance Leases
Accounting Policy
A finance lease transfers to the lessee substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset, 
whether or not title is eventually transferred. At the start 
of the lease term, finance leases are recognised as assets 
and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased item or the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The finance charge 
is charged to the surplus or deficit over the lease period so 

as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its 
useful life. If there is no reasonable certainty as to whether 
UCOL will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, 
the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and its useful life.

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Current portion 500 514 500 514

Non-current portion 479 873 479 873

Total 979 1,387 979 1,387

Weighted average effective interest rate 1.1% 1.3% 1.1% 1.3%

Finance leases as lessee 
Non-cancellable minimum finance lease payments are payable as 
follows:

Not later than one year 508 528 508 528

Later than one year and not later than five years 482 882 482 882

Later than five years - - - -

Total minimum lease payments as lessee 990 1,410 990 1,410

Future finance charges 11 23 11 23

Present value of minimum lease payments 979 1,387 979 1,387

Present value of minimum lease payments payable

Not later than one year 500 514 500 514

Later than one year and not later than five years 479 873 479 873

Later than five years - - - -

Total present value of minimum lease payments 979 1,387 979 1,387
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16. Other Financial Assets and 
Liabilities
Accounting Policy
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs unless they are measured at fair value 
through surplus or deficit, in which case the transaction 
costs are recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

Term deposits and loans to subsidiaries 
Term deposits and loans to subsidiaries are initially 
measured at amount invested, as this reflects the fair 
value for these market-based transactions. Interest is 
subsequently accrued and added to the investment and 
loan balance. A loss allowance for expected credit losses is 
recognised if the estimated loss allowance is not trivial. 

Previous accounting policies for other financial assets
For the prior year, an allowance for credit losses for 
instruments exposed to credit risk was recognised only 
when there was objective evidence of impairment. 

Financial instruments risks 
UCOL’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, 
including market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk.

UCOL has policies to manage these risks and seeks to 
minimise exposure from financial instruments. These 
policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative 
in nature to be entered into.

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
the investment below its cost was considered objective 
evidence of impairment. If impairment evidence existed, 
the cumulative loss recognised in other comprehensive 
revenue and expense was transferred from equity to the 
surplus or deficit.

Write-off 
The unrecoverable portion of a financial asset is written off 
when UCOL has no reasonable expectations of recovering 
all or some of a financial asset. For student fees, UCOL 
has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when 
the receivable is 180 days past due based on historical 
experience of recoveries of similar assets. For corporate 
customers, UCOL individually makes an assessment with 
respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on 
whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. 

UCOL expects no significant recovery from the amount 
written off. However, financial assets that are written off 
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to 
comply with UCOL’s procedures for recovery of amounts 
due.

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities 
The table below analyses financial liabilities into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
balance date to the contractual maturity date. Future 
interest payments on floating rate debt are based on 
the floating rate on the instrument at balance date. The 
amounts disclosed are contractual undiscounted cash 
flows.

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Financial instrument categories 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line 
items below:

Financial assets - loans and receivables at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 6,837 6,535 6,292 5,933

Term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months at acquisition - - - -

Investments in debt instruments - - - -

Student fees and other receivables 11,791 12,125 12,336 13,567

Total loans and receivables 18,628 18,660 18,628 19,500

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Creditors and other payables 6,867 4,313 6,864 4,308

Finance leases 979 1,387 979 1,387

Borrowing 3,557 3,557 3,557 3,557

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 11,403 9,257 11,400 9,252
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2021 GROUP
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Trade and other payables 6,867 6,867 6,867 - - - -

Borrowings 3,557 3,557 3,557 - - - -

Finance leases 990 979 262 238 333 133 13

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 11,414 11,403 10,686 238 333 133 13

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - -

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost - - - - - - -

2020 GROUP
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Trade and other payables 4,313 4,313 4,313 - - - -

Borrowings 3,557 3,557 3,557 - - - -

Finance leases 1,387 1,410 272 256 780 102 -

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 9,257 9,280 8,142 256 780 102 -

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - -

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost - - - - - - -

2021 PARENT

Trade and other payables 6,864 6,864 6,864 - - - -

Borrowings 3,557 3,557 3,557 - - - -

Finance leases 990 979 262 238 333 133 13

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 11,411 11,400 10,683 238 333 133 13

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - -

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost - - - - - - -

2020 PARENT

Trade and other payables 4,308 4,308 4,308 - - - -

Borrowings 3,557 3,557 3,557 - - - -

Finance leases 1,387 1,410 272 256 780 102 -

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 9,252 9,275 8,137 256 780 102 -

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - -

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost - - - - - - -
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MARKET RISK
Price risk 
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. UCOL 
is exposed to price risk. The investment philosophy and 
approach is conservative, it recognises that all investments 
held should be low risk.

Foreign exchange risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of 
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. UCOL is 
exposed to currency risk. UCOL manages currency risks by 
entering forward foreign exchange contracts and through 
diversifying investments across different currencies.

Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that cash flows from 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. Borrowings and investments issued 
at variable interest rates create exposure to cash flow 
interest rate risk.

On 1 April 2021 Te Pūkenga established a Group Treasury 
Policy providing the framework and scope within which 
treasury related risks are governed by Te Pūkenga.  

Fair value interest rate risk 
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
market interest rates. Borrowings and investments issued 
at fixed rates of interest create exposure to fair value 
interest rate risk. UCOL does not actively manage its 
exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by 
maturity, of the financial instruments that are exposed to 
interest rate risk.

Te Pūkenga finance function manages treasury activities 
along with the group liquidity and debt management 
requirements which includes the intra-group funding 
arrangement. UCOL is responsible for their own treasury 
activities including day-to day cash management, working 
capital, treasury investment and risk management.  
Te Pūkenga is the borrowing entity of the Group with the 
ability to borrow both externally and hold intra-group 
borrowing and lending activity managed by UCOL. 

2021 GROUP 2020 GROUP

>1 year - 
<2 years

>2 years Total <1 year >1 year -  
<2 years

>2 years Total

Cash & cash equivalents 6,837 - 6,837 6,537 - - 6,537

Term Deposits greater than 3 months - - - - - - -

Investments - - - - - - -

Weighted average effective interest rate 2.06% 2.06% 2.07% 2.07% 2.07%

2021 PARENT 2020 PARENT

>1 year - 
<2 years

>2 years Total <1 year >1 year -  
<2 years

>2 years Total

Cash & cash equivalents 6,292 - 6,292 5,935 - - 5,935

Term deposits - - - - - - -

Investments - - - - - - -

Weighted average effective interest rate 2.06% 2.06% 2.07% 2.07% 2.07%
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on 
its obligation to UCOL, causing it to incur a loss. In the 
normal course of business, UCOL is exposed to credit 
risk from cash and term deposits with banks, receivables, 
Government bonds, loans to subsidiaries, derivative 
financial instrument assets, and bonds within the managed 
fund investment. For each of these, the maximum credit 
exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, 
surplus cash is invested into term deposits, which give 
rise to credit risk. Te Pūkenga limits the amount of credit 

exposure to any one financial institute for term deposits to 
no more than 25% of total investments held.  
Te Pūkenga invests funds only with registered banks that 
have a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of at least A2 for 
short-term investments and A for long-term investments. 
Te Pūkenga has experienced no defaults of interest or 
principal payments for term deposits. Te Pūkenga holds 
no collateral or other credit enhancements for financial 
instruments that give rise to credit risk. The credit quality 
of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
can be assessed by reference to Standard and Poor’s credit 
ratings (if available) or to historical information about 
counterparty default rates.

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
can be assessed by reference to Standard and Poor’s credit ratings (if 
available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:

Counterparties with credit ratings

Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits

AA- 6,837 6,062 6,292 5,460

A - 475 - 475

Counterparties without credit ratings

Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits

Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past - - - -

Existing counterparty with defaults in the past - - - -

Investments

Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past - - - -

Existing counterparty with defaults in the past - - - -

Total cash and cash equivalents 6,837 6,537 6,292 5,935

Debtors and other receivables

Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past 11,791 12,125 12,336 13,567

Existing counterparty with defaults in the past - - - -

Total debtors and other receivables 11,791 12,125 12,336 13,567
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Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the 
operation functions, therefore there are no procedures in 
place to monitor or report the credit quality of trade and 
other receivables with reference to internal or external 
credit ratings. UCOL is not exposed to any material 
concentrations of credit risk. Trade and other receivables 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure 
that the exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that UCOL will encounter difficulty 
raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities, and the 
ability to close out market positions. Te Pūkenga aims 
to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed 

The interest rate sensitivity is based on a reasonable possible movement in interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, measured as a basis points (bps) movement. For example a decrease in 100 bps is equivalent to a decrease in 
interest rates of 1.0%.

credit lines available. Te Pūkenga and the group manages 
liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flow requirements. The table below analyses 
financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
balance date to the contractual maturity date. Future 
interest payments on floating rate debt are based on 
the floating rate of the instrument at balance date. The 
amounts disclosed are the undiscounted contractual cash 
flows.

Sensitivity analysis
The tables below illustrate the potential effect on the 
surplus or deficit and equity (excluding retained surplus) 
for reasonably possible market movements in price and 
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, based 
on financial instrument exposures at balance date.

GROUP PARENT

+100BPS -100BPS +100BPS -100BPS

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

Interest rate risk 31 December 2021 
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 - (3) - 3 - (3) -

Total sensitivity to interest rate risk 3 - (3) - 3 - (3) -

GROUP PARENT

+100BPS -100BPS +100BPS -100BPS

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

Interest rate risk 31 December 2020  
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15 - (15) - 15 - (15) -

Cash and cash equivalents 2 - (2) - 2 - (2) -

Total sensitivity to interest rate risk 17 - (17) - 17 - (17) -
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17. Capital Management
UCOL’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated 
funds and reserves. Equity is represented by net 
assets. UCOL is subject to the financial management 
and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 
2004 and the Education and Training Act 2020, which 
impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition 
of securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities, and 
the use of derivatives and is compliant with these 
requirements. UCOL manages its equity as a by-product of 
prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments and general financial dealings to ensure the 
that UCOL effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, 
while remaining an going concern.

18. Equity
Accounting Policy
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets 
and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified 
into the following components:. 

• general funds;

• property revaluation reserves; and

• fair value through other comprehensive revenue and 
expense reserve

Property revaluation reserves
These reserves relate to the revaluation of land, buildings 
and infrastructure assets to fair value.

Fair value through other comprehensive revenue and 
expense reserve
This reserve comprises the cumulative net change of 
financial assets classified as fair value through other 
comprehensive revenue and expense.
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GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

General funds

Opening Balance 88,701 123,102 88,951 123,352

Opening balance adjustment - (4,033) - (4,033)

Transfer from revaluation reserves on sale of assets held for sale1 2,511 146 2,511 146

Distribution to the Crown2 (762) - (762) -

Surplus/(deficit) for the year before other comprehensive revenue and 
expenditure

(2,400) (30,514) (2,544) (30,514)

Less surplus/deficit attributable to other equity classes/reserves3 - - 43 -

Balance as at 31 December 88,050 88,701 88,199 88,951

Property revaluation reserves

Opening Balance 15,736 11,894 15,686 11,844

Opening balance adjustment 5 3,988 5 3,988

Transfer to equity on sale of assets held for sale - - - -

Transfer from revaluation reserves on sale of assets held for sale (2,511) (146) (2,511) (146)

Land net revaluations gain 4,707 - 4,707 -

Infrastructure revaluation gain 3,431 - 3,431 -

Buildings net revaluations gain 6,219 - 6,219 -

Total net revaluations gain 14,357 4,091 14,357 4,091

Balance as at 31 December 27,587 15,736 27,537 15,686

Total equity 115,637 104,437 115,736 104,637

Property Revaluation Reserves Consist of  15,786  13,774  15,736  13,724

Land  6,670  279  6,670  279

Buildings  5,131  1,683  5,131  1,683

Infrastructure  27,587  15,736  27,537  15,686

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. This relates to the transfer to retained earnings upon disposal of surplus property
2. This relates to TANZ eCampus Limited became a business division of the Open Polytechnic of New Zealand Limited on 1 December 2021
3. This relates to a property transfer from a wholly owned subsidiary

NB: 2020 Opening Balance is 1 April 2020 and Opening Balance for 2021 is 1 January 2021
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GROUP

Actual Budget Variance

All in $000s Note 2021 2021

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense

Operating surplus/(deficit)* (1,529) (995) (534)

Surplus/(deficit) (2,400) (973) (1,427)

Revenue variances

Government funding 30,576 31,413 (837)

Student fees & departmental revenue 18,251 17,238 1,013

Other revenue 2,531 1,535 996

Expenditure variances

Employee benefit expenses 33,796 31,782 (2,014)

Depreciation and amortisation 4,198 4,547 349

Interest expense 14 15 1

Administration and other expenses 14,879 14,837 (42)

Separately Disclosed Items 466 130 (336)

Share of associate entity (405) 152 (557)

Other comprehensive revenue and expense

Other comprehensive revenue and expense 14,357 - 14,357

Distribution to the Crown (762) - (762)

Total comprehensive revenue and expense 11,195 (973) 12,168

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

19. Major Budget Variations
Major comprehensive revenue and expense budget variances from the 2021 UCOL budget are detailed in the below table.
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Statement of Revenue and Expense 
Significant Variance Explanations 
Employee benefit expenses are more than budget due 
to partial achievement of the Budget savings target. 
Significant payroll savings were achieved against the 
budget savings target. Other contributors to the negative 
variance are contractor expenditure. 

In addition, payroll costs relating to unbudgeted delivery, 
with offsetting revenue, contribute to the negative 
variance.

The operating deficit surplus/(deficit) is worse than budget 
due to partial achievement of budget payroll savings 
target.

Statement of Financial Position 
Significant Variance Explanations
Current Assets are more than budget due to the 
reclassification of a property as “held for sale” at year end. 
Debtors are more than assumed in the budget. In addition 
debtors are more than budget due to assumptions about 
the level of organisational and Student debtors at the end 
of 2021.

Non-Current Assets are more than budget due to; the 
revaluation of land and buildings, offset by reclassification 
of an asset to “held for sale” and Investment in TANZ 
eCampus transferred to equity upon transfer of ownership 
to Open Polytechnic of New Zealand Limited.

The surplus/(deficit) is worse than budget due to partial 
achievement of budget payroll savings target, share of 
associate entity surplus/(deficit) being worse than budget 
and unbudgeted restructuring expenditure.

Other comprehensive revenue and expense variance 
relates to 2021 revaluation of land and buildings.
*The operating surplus/(deficit) is the “Surplus/(deficit)” before 
“share of associate entity” and “separately disclosed Items”.

Current liabilities are more than budget due to UCOL 
owing Te Pūkenga at year end for under delivery to 
contract, the 2021 budget assumed that contracted EFTS 
would be fully delivered.

Equity is more than budget due to; the revaluation of land 
and buildings, offset by the transfer of the Investment in 
TANZ eCampus to equity upon transfer of ownership to 
Open Polytechnic of New Zealand Limited.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

GROUP

Actual Budget Variance

All in $000s Note 2021 2021

Statement of Financial Position

Current assets 22,198 17,621 4,577

Non-current assets 117,822 109,749 8,073

Current liabilities 23,394 20,952 2,442

Non-current liabilities 989 904 85

Equity 115,637 105,514 10,123
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GROUP

Actual Budget Variance

All in $000s Note 2021 2021

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash flow from operating activities 1,406 3,661 (2,255)

Cash flow used in investing activities (1,106) (1,341) 235

Cash flows from financing activities - - -

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 300 2,320 (2,020)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 6,537 5,710 827

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 6,837 8,030 (1,193)

GROUP GROUP

Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance

All in $000s Note 2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

Annual allocations (renewals)

Facilities annual replacements 3,938 3,354 584 2,500 1,897 603

Furniture annual allocation 219 228 (9) 167 200 (33)

Information technology allocation 417 1,978 (1,561) 445 1,225 (780)

Vehicle replacement 236 240 (4) 407 110 297

Library annual allocation 152 173 (21) 147 156 (9)

Academic departments 460 863 (403) 1,014 1,066 (52)

Other allocation 184 172 12 63 802 (739)

Total annual allocation 5,606 7,008 (1,402) 4,743 5,456 (713)

Major projects

Block 12 Lift Replacement 1,200 1,076 124 376 1,100 (724)

Health Hub development - - - 536 2,000 (1,464)

Total major projects 1,200 1,076 124 912 3,100 (2,188)

Total capital expenditure 6,806 8,084 (1,278) 5,655 8,556 (2,901)

Major statement of cash flows budget variances from the 2021 UCOL budget are detailed in the below table. 

Cash Flow from operating activities is less than budget due to payroll costs which are more than budget. Please refer to the 
surplus/(deficit) explanation above which refers to payroll being more than budget.

Explanation of major budget variations:
The underspend on annual capital allocations across 
the group was largely due to delays brought on by 
the COVID-19 pandemic and associated lockdowns. In 
particular the Information Technology Projects suffered 
from significant supply chain issues due to international 
suppliers and have had to be deferred to subsequent 
years. 

Major building projects were delayed due to the inability 
to continue onsite work and the delays in construction 
caused by COVID-19 induced supply chain issues which 
also led to increased costs.

20. Capital Expenditure Project Performance To Budget
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Operating leases as the lessee comprise of buildings, vehicles, photocopiers and other equipment.

21. Operating Leases
Accounting Policy
Operating leases
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset 
to the lessee. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Leases as lessee 
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Not later than one year 326 283 326 283

Later than one year and not later than five years 334 365 334 365

Later than five years - - - -

Total leases as lessee 660 648 660 648

Leases as lessor 
UCOL leases its property purchased for strategic purpose pending future use 
by UCOL under operating leases

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as 
follows:

Not later than one year 127 166 127 166

Later than one year and not later than five years 107 261 107 261

Later than five years - - - -

Total leases as lessor 234 427 234 427
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22. Commitments and Contingencies

UCOL has the following commitments at balance date: GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Capital commitments

Capital commitments denote approved capital expenditure contracted for at 
year-end not yet incurred.

- - - -

Approved and committed

Buildings - UCOL 1,800 539 1,800 539

Other plant, property and equipment - - - -

Intangible assets 72 - 72 -

Total capital commitments 1,872 539 1,872 539

UCOL has the following contingent liabilities at balance date: GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Contingent liabilities

Compassionate Grants outstanding as at 31/12/2021 21 90 21 90

Total contingent liabilities 21 90 21 90

UCOL has the following contingent assets at balance date: GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

UCOL has the following contingent assets at balance date - - - -
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23. Related Party Transactions and 
Key Management Personnel
Accounting Policy
Related party disclosures have not been made for 
transactions with related parties that are:

• within a normal supplier or client/recipient 
relationship; and

• on terms and conditions no more or less favourable 
than those that are reasonable to expect that UCOL 
would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s 
length in the same circumstances.

Further, transactions with government agencies (for 
example, Government departments and Crown entities) 
are not disclosed as related party transactions when they 
are consistent with the normal operating arrangements 
with TEIs and undertaken on the normal terms and 
conditions for such transactions.

Key management personnel related party transactions GROUP PARENT

Actual Actual Actual Actual

All in $000s Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

Key management personnel compensation 
Board members

Full-time equivalent members 8.42 8.0 8.42 8.0

Remuneration 152,398 113,819 152,398 113,819

Directors and Chief Executive

Full-time equivalent members* 7.73 8.4 7.73 8.4

Remuneration 1,840,731 1,782,716 1,840,731 1,782,716

Total full-time equivalent members 16.1 16.4 16.1 16.4

Total key management personnel remuneration 1,993,129 1,896,535 1,993,129 1,896,535

*There are ten members of the Executive Leadership Team considered to be key management personnel.
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The full-time equivalent for members of the Board has 
been determined based on the frequency and length of 
Board meetings and the estimated time for members of 
the Board to prepare for meetings.

Key management personnel did not receive any 
remuneration compensation other than in their capacity as 
key management personnel.

Section 211 of Company’s Act requires the following 
disclosures to be included and shown below:
f) State, in respect of each director or former director of the 

company, the total of the remuneration and value of other 
benefits received by that director or former director from the 
company during the accounting period; and

h) State the total amount of donations made by the company 
during the accounting period; and

i) State the names of the persons holding office as Directors 
of the company as the end of the accounting period and the 
names of any persons who ceased to hold office as Directors 
of the company during the accounting period

CONSOLIDATED & PARENT

All in $000s 2021 2020

Hon. Steve Maharey (Chair to 14/05/21) 23,185 24,860

Verne Atmore (Deputy Chair to 13/05/21 - Chair from 14/05/21) 28,660 15,537

Mark Cleaver (Deputy Chair from 10/06/21) 19,082 12,559

Lyal French-Wright 16,745 10,627

Katarina Hina 16,745 12,559

Barry Jordan 16,745 12,559

Lorraine Stephenson (Atihaunui-A-Pāpārangi Rangitane, Ngāti Kahungunu) 16,745 12,559

Linda Stewart 16,745 12,559

Total full-time equivalent members 154,652 113,819

Board remuneration
Board remuneration paid or payable during the period was:

No Board Members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation.
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24. Consolidation
Accounting Policy
The Group financial statements are prepared by adding 
together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, 
expenses, and cash flows of entities in the Group on a 
line-by-line basis. All intra-group balances, transactions, 
revenue, and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 
The group financial statements are prepared using 
uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other 
events in similar circumstances. The consolidation of an 
entity begins from the date UCOL obtains control of the 
entity and ceases when UCOL loses control of the entity.

Subsidiaries
UCOL consolidates in the group financial statements those 
entities it controls. Control exists where UCOL is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable benefits (either financial or 
non-financial) and has the ability to affect the nature and 
amount of those benefits from its power over the entity. 
Power can exist over an entity if, by virtue of its purpose 
and design, the relevant activities and the way in which the 
relevant activities of the entity can be directed has been 
predetermined by UCOL. Investments in subsidiaries are 
measured at cost in the parent financial statements. 

25. COVID-19
On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation 
declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic, and two 
weeks later the New Zealand Government declared a State 
of National Emergency.

From this, the country was in lockdown at Alert Level 4 for 
the period 26 March to 27 April 2020 and then remained 
in lockdown at Alert Level 3 until 13 May 2020. In 2021, 
various regions in New Zealand have been subject to 
lockdown restrictions at various levels. During these 
periods, UCOL has periodically closed some or all delivery 
sites to comply with COVID-19 restrictions.

Most staff moved to a “work from home” model, and 
teaching was changed to online delivery. When New 
Zealand moved to lower Alert Levels, students were able 
to attend classes on-site or continue to access classes 
remotely. The effect on our operations is reflected in these 
financial statements based on the information available to 
the date these financial statements were approved.

The main impacts on UCOL’s financial statements due to 
COVID-19 are explained below:

Revenue UCOL has not experienced a reduction 
in revenue, the impact of COVID-19 has 
been minimal.

Suppliers The majority of suppliers to UCOL are 
based in New Zealand, so the COVID-19 
effect on supply was minimal.

Operating expenses UCOL has incurred minimal additional 
expenditure relating to the direct cost 
impact on salaries for staff, leases, 
and developing alternative methods of 
delivery to students.

Impairment of 
tangible and 
intangible assets

An impairment assessment has been 
completed for tangible and intangible 
assets. The result of this assessment was 
no impairment loss has been recognised, 
please refer to Note 9 Intangible Assets.

Property Asset fair 
value assessment

Generally, property and land valuations 
have followed trends witnessed in the 
wider market by increasing in 2021, in 
some case markedly. The proportion to 
which these increases can be directly 
attributable to COVID-19 is uncertain.
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27. Number of Employees By 
Remuneration (Contracted) Band
UCOL has employees, not including directors, who 
received total remuneration greater than $100,000 for the 
year ending 31 December 2021. 

The employee counts are shown in the table below:

Total remuneration paid or payable 2021 2020

$100,000 - $109,999 5 2

$110,000 - $119,999 7 5

$120,000 - $129,999 1 1

$130,000 - $139,999 5 1

$140,000 - $149,999 2 -

$150,000 - $159,999 5 -

$160,000 - $169,999 1 2

$170,000 - $179,999 3 1

$180,000 - $189,999 1 -

$190,000 - $199,999 1 1

$200,000 - $209,999 - -

$210,000 - $219,999 - -

$220,000 - $229,999 - -

$230,000 - $239,999 1 -

$240,000 - $249,999 - -

$250,000 - $259,999 1 -

$260,000 - $269,999 - -

$270,000 - $279,999 - -

$280,000 - $289,999 - -

$290,000 - $299,999 - -

$300,000 - $309,999 - -

$310,000 - $319,999 - -

$320,000 - $329,999 - -

$330,000 - $339,999 - -

$340,000 - $349,999 - -

$350,000 - $359,999 - -

$360,000 - 369,9999 - -

$370,000 - $379,999 1 1

Total 34 14

2020 was for the 9 month period 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2020

26. Events After Balance Date
UCOL has entered a sale and lease back agreement with 
Gibbons for PSA House. This is disclosed in the Statement 
of Financial Position as a “held for sale” asset. The sales 
transaction settled on 31 January 2022 for $2.176M.
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HE KŌRERO WHĀKINGA 
DISCLOSURES
Student Services Levy Disclosure 2021
UCOL charges a compulsory Student Services Levy. This is used to support the delivery of student services as detailed below:

2021 2020

Total 
Revenue

Total 
Expenditure

Net Surplus 
/(Deficit) For 

Period
Total 

Revenue
Total 

Expenditure

Net Surplus 
/(Deficit) For 

Period

Advocacy and legal advice 30 40 (10) 30 40 (10)

Careers information, advice and guidance 533 710 (177) 542 722 (180)

Counselling services and pastoral care 340 451 (112) 247 329 (82)

Employment information - - - - - -

Financial support and advice 158 211 (53) 122 163 (41)

Health Services 94 126 (31) 89 118 (29)

Media - - - - - -

Childcare services - - - - - -

Clubs and societies - - - - - -

Sports, recreation and cultural activities - - - - - -

Total 1,155 1,538 (383) 1,030 1,372 (342)

Advocacy and Legal advice
UCOL has a Student Advocacy and Welfare Coordinator 
who helps students with their welfare and advocacy 
needs (within and outside of UCOL). This can include 
support with financial and other forms of hardship such as 
accommodation, StudyLink, Work and Income, meetings 
with faculty, disciplinary meetings, complaints processes or 
an exploration of what services are available for students.

Career information, advice and guidance 
Support is provided to students both pre-entry to study 
and at preparation for post study. Services include CV 
and interview skills development and study and career 
pathway guidance. 

Counselling services and pastoral care
Counsellors are available across all three UCOL campuses 
to offer individual consultations as required. There is 
also access to specific support for Māori and Pacific 
Island students and a Chaplaincy service is available to all 
students.

Employment information
UCOL offers an employment hub to assist students into 
employment post study.

Financial support and advice
Students have access to hardship funds to support their 
needs when required. In addition, compassionate grants 
are issued to students to support their continued study.

Health services
UCOL has Student Health Services which are available 
across all four UCOL campuses. This ensures students are 
able to access doctors and nurses as required.

Media
UCOL offer significant support for online student media 
across all programmes, including maintenance and 
administration of Facebook, blogs etc.

Childcare services
Early childcare education facilities are available near to 
each UCOL campus, to assist our students with families. 
Many offer discounts for UCOL students.

Clubs and societies
The Student Success team have a wide range of clubs and 
initiative that are available for all students. A full list of 
these is available in the Student Success handbook.

Sports, recreation and cultural activities
UCOL supports a variety of orientation events, including 
the pōwhiri and student market days. UCOL also organised 
various events for students during the year.

SSL Accounting Requirements
All income and expenditure associated with services stated 
above are separately accounted for in the accounting 
system.

Note: The Student Services Levy varies depending on the individual student’s circumstances, but on average the fee is $454 per equivalent full time 
student.
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Official Information Act Requests
UCOL fully engages with its commitments under the 
Official Information Act 1982 and makes information 
available upon request unless good reason exists for 
withholding such information. UCOL complies with its 
legislation obligations to protect official information 
consistent with the public interest and the preservation of 
privacy. UCOL has established a policy and procedure for 
dealing with requests for official information in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act.

Total received in 2021: 12

Request from:

Department, government organisation or local authority: 3

Company, association or incorporated society: 1

Union: 1

Media: 2

Student: 1

Staff: 1

Members of public (no apparent affiliation): 3

Outcome of request:

Fully responded: 9

Request transferred: 0

Partially responded: 2

Fully declined: 1

Average time to respond: 9.17 working days:

Extensions to requests: 1

Additional information requested: 2

Costs set for requests: 0

Ombudsman complaints: 1
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We’re on a journey right now as we reimagine 
vocational education and training in  
New Zealand. We know we need to put you – 
our learners – right in the centre. This year we’ll 
be working with many different people to  
co-design the future way we operate and work.  
You can read more about our transformation on 
our website tepūkenga.ac.nz. 

Our aim is to have integrated campuses, online 
and work-based learning opportunities that 
meet your needs and the needs of employers,  
so you know what you’re learning will be what 
employers are looking for.

 
– at work, in a classroom or online – as well as 
the ability to move around the country should 
your living needs change. It will mean a system 
that is culturally responsive and honours Te Tiriti 
o Waitangi. 

Our target is 2023 to be fully transitioned to our  
new way of providing learning opportunities 
across New Zealand. 

When we get there, it is expected that  
Te Pūkenga will: 
• be New Zealand’s largest tertiary  

education provider  
• be the 35th largest tertiary education 

institute in the world  
• have around 280,000 students  
• have more than 10,000 staff across  

the country.

Our visual identity is based upon the harakeke,  

threads meet and grow. Te Pūkenga is the 

the gaining and mastery of certain valuable 
skills. This occurs through the passing down 
from person to person, where the receiver 
becomes a repository of knowledge and in time, 
an expert themselves in those skills. 

Te Pūkenga 
Learn with purpose.

A new kind of organisation
Bringing together on-the-job, on campus, 
and online vocational education and training 

regionally accessible provision.

tepūkenga.ac.nz

Nau mai haere mai ki Te Pūkenga 
Welcome to Te Pūkenga

When you enrol with us you will become part of the  
Te Pūkenga network supporting learners like you,  

right across Aotearoa.






